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RESUMED [9.33 am] 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes, be seated please.  Good morning, you will notice the 

absence of Ms Huria this morning and with sadness I need to announce 

that her father passed away in the weekend.  She will not be sitting for 5 

the remainder of the Strategic Directions chapter.  It is our view, and I 

invite counsel if they disagree with this view to file a memorandum, 

that we continue to have a quorum, we can continue to sit and decide 

this matter but Ms Huria cannot come back in later effectively and 

could take no part in the deliberative processes we will need. 10 

 

 But just before we go any further I just think we should stand for a 

moments silence to mark that. 

 

 Thank you. 15 

 

 Just one other matter before we start today, Mr Winchester I understand 

we may be getting a memorandum from you around the timing of 

natural hazards? 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is correct, sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   That is a matter of the greatest urgency from our perspective. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. 25 

 

SIR HANSEN:   I was going to say the morning adjournment, which is 

probably a bit tough, but lunchtime, the end of lunchtime? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, we will do our best. 30 

 

SIR HANSEN:   And it will have to be circulated to other parties as well of 

course. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Understood.  I can indicate I have circulated a draft to 35 

my learned friend, Mr Radich - - - 

 

SIR HANSEN:   And is the concern the holiday break or is the concern that 

you need more work around what supports the 32 Report and some of 

that sort of stuff which is criticised by Mr Berryman, the lack of 40 

analysis and work by the Council basically? 
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  [9.35 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Not necessarily, sir, and the holiday break is a concern 

but is not what is driving it.  It is really around getting a better 

understanding between the geotechnical experts about the methodology 5 

underpinning the natural hazards approach and approach to risk.  So 

making sure they all understand what has been done and can form 

views on it and then get the policy people, the planners, to come in and, 

with that base understanding, then take a view as to the appropriate 

policy approach.  And really the intention, sir, is to present a clearer 10 

and simpler picture to the Hearing Panel and to make your task more 

straightforward rather than putting a mess of provisions and differing 

views before you. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   I am grateful for that.  I could indicate that what we are 15 

minded to do at the moment is to split the pre-hearing into two, those 

dealing with people who are calling expert evidence and for the lay 

submitters.  And I can say that this is a suggestion from the Friend of 

the Submitter, so that we would probably be looking to have the pre-

hearing for those with expert witnesses to give us time to get the 20 

evidence in and the necessary hot tubbing before the Christmas break, 

probably Tuesday and Wednesday of next week as the pre-hearing.   

 

 But then we would not deal with the general submitters until the third 

of week of January when the holidays are out of the road so that we can 25 

deal with their concerns, which will be completely different, and a lot 

of them will be site specific as two separates issues I think.  That is 

where we are thinking at the moment and I would not say there was any 

final view on that yet. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, well, certainly possibly with some timing 

adjustments what is being suggested or what will be suggested in the 

memorandum can fit within that framework, sir, in that the experts can 

do their thing throughout January, as it were, and reach as much as they 

can a consensus on where they agree and disagree and that should make 35 

the picture a lot clearer for some of those lay submitters as well. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes.  Well, I think what we are looking for is conferencing of 

experts in the first instance and then the potential to have - it would 

have to be an enormous one given the number of submitters – a 40 

mediation to assist the laypeople with the experts after that if we have 

got a reasonable consensus between the experts because a mediation 

everybody has to be invited to whereas a conference of experts is for 

the experts.  And I think it is the conference of the experts is the first 

cab off the rank, is it not? 45 
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 Yes, well, the judge has reminded me, which I should have 

remembered myself, Commissioner Sutherland is available in February 

but we are not sure about later than that, and the overall timing still 

remains problematic for all of us. 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, that is understood.  I did have a conversation 

with Mr Thomas for the Secretariat about how time might be filled in 

with other matters, if there was a need to push natural hazards back, 

and of course the intention is not to push it a long way back but really 

to enable both sufficient caucusing and mediation to really boil the 10 

issues down. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   The trouble is all of the subjects from now on are pretty 

meaty. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, well, the suggestion was designations could 

perhaps come up and be dealt with as a discrete issue but obviously - - - 

 

SIR HANSEN:   And that we talked about again, and I have not analysed this 

yet and how many submitters there are on designations, but there are 20 

issues within the designations which excite some lay submitters as well 

so we may have large numbers of those.  And, as you know, we are 

asking for better analysis so we may know that a little bit better when 

we get that information from your client. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, that is understood. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   All right, well, thank you for that and if you could, I think if 

we could get it at the end of the lunch adjournment it will give the 

Panel the opportunity to discuss it over the afternoon adjournment and 30 

then if necessary a notice of hearing, given the notice periods, can go 

out late this evening or first thing tomorrow morning. 

 

  [9.40 am] 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir, I will try and advance that this morning 

so we can meet that. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   I am grateful, thank you. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   One further preliminary matter, sir, I just seek your 

direction on.  Mr Colegrave for AMP is giving evidence tomorrow.  He 

is an economist and he has got a short statement.  I have checked the 

Council’s notice of cross-examination and it seems there was an 

oversight and he was not listed as a witness to be cross-examined.  I 45 

would like to give notice to cross-examine, it would not take long. 
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SIR HANSEN:   Well, I will treat this as an oral application. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. 

 5 

SIR HANSEN:   I will grant it but you will have to make the arrangements 

with AMP to ensure that Mr Colegrave will be here tomorrow. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. 

 10 

SIR HANSEN:   So you are looking for a 10 minute? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   At the most, sir, yes. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Well, I will treat that as an oral application.  We will need to 15 

draw up an order to that effect for me to sign. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I am obliged, sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes, Mr Radich? 

 25 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, your Honour, I call Michelle Mitchell. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   I am sorry, I should have said to you is there anything arising 

out of that exchange from your perspective? 

 30 

MR RADICH:   No, sir, I can say this, the Crown is generally supportive of the 

approach that you will see in the memorandum and is likely to sign the 

memorandum as well, given the logic in coming together as far as 

possible, one can see the possibility of really narrowing that down to a 

point where the issues that come before you are quite narrow indeed 35 

and so we would really like to try and achieve that. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   All right. 

 

MR RADICH:   I think there is good potential to do that. 40 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
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<MICHELLE MITCHELL, sworn [9.41 am] 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [9.41 am] 

 

MR RADICH:   Now, your name is Michelle Mitchell? 5 

 

MS MITCHELL:   That is right. 

 

MR RADICH:   And you hold the position of Deputy Chief Executive of 

Social and Cultural Recovery at the Canterbury Earthquake Recovery 10 

Authority, and Ms Mitchell you have a brief of evidence dated 

25 November 2014? 

 

MS MITCHELL:   Mm’hm. 

 15 

MR RADICH:   And you confirm it to be true and correct? 

 

MS MITCHELL:   I do. 

 

MR RADICH:   Please would you now present a summary of your evidence for 20 

the Panel. 

 

MS MITCHELL:   Sure.  My evidence outlines the impacts of the earthquakes 

on the recovery in Christchurch focusing on the importance of social 

and cultural infrastructure to community wellbeing; the impacts of the 25 

earthquakes on wellbeing and people’s access to social and cultural 

infrastructure; the ways in which the replacement plan can help enable 

the social and cultural recovery. 

 

 My evidence draws on the Canterbury Wellbeing Index, the CERA 30 

Wellbeing Survey and the Youth Wellbeing Survey.   

 

 Social and cultural infrastructure is defined as any physical 

infrastructure that enables people to meet and interact.  Examples 

include sporting facilities, churches, clubrooms, libraries and 35 

community halls.  Social infrastructure assists communities to develop 

a sense of identify and enables strong social networks to flourish 

therefore social and cultural infrastructure is core to supporting the 

social recovery. 

 40 

 The pattern of social and cultural infrastructure damage was uneven.  

Some communities, particularly in the eastern suburbs such as in 

Christchurch, have been more affected than others.   
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 Recovery from the earthquakes is also uneven.  Although 75 percent of 

residents report a positive overall quality of life the stress of the 

recovery is still affecting many others. 

 

 The CERA Wellbeing Survey provides evidence that those with 5 

unresolved insurance claims, people living in temporary 

accommodation, people with ill health and disabilities, renters and 

those on low incomes continue to report lower levels of emotional 

wellbeing and higher exposure to stressors. 

 10 

 Other negative impacts on wellbeing include living in a damaged 

environment, being surrounded by construction work and transport 

related stressors. 

 

 There are also secondary stressors such as housing and insurance issues 15 

that have a direct impact on individual and community resilience.  

These stressors typically persist and can delay recovery. 

 

 People with unresolved insurance claims, those living in temporary 

accommodation and renters have disproportionately poorer outcomes.  20 

We also know that people living in the eastern suburbs in Christchurch 

are experiencing a much slower recovery. 

 

  [9.45 am] 

 25 

 Increased stress levels have been mitigated to some degree by the 

provision of psychosocial supports and services such as the Earthquake 

Support Coordination Service, free counselling services and GP 

extended consultations.  Mental Health Services have experienced 

significant growth in demand.   30 

 

 As the recovery has progressed the loss of social infrastructure has had 

different impacts.  In 2012 residents were highly impacted by the loss 

of places and spaces but by 2013 they appear to have been less affected 

by these stressors.  In 2014 the loss of social infrastructure is having a 35 

renewed negative impact on wellbeing of residents.   

 

 There has also been significant effect on young people with the most 

prevalent negative impacts being the loss of places they used to go to 

socially connect.  This signals that enabling the replacement of social 40 

and cultural infrastructure is core to ensuring that Christchurch remains 

a desirable city for young people to live, work and study in. 

 

 Other key impacts include the loss of much loved arts facilities such as 

the Art Gallery, Town Hall, Isaac Theatre Royal and the Court Theatre 45 

and a myriad of other venues that hosted live music, art exhibition, 
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theatre groups and children’s musical and art endeavours.  The loss of 

39 percent of Christchurch’s listed heritage buildings, 11 percent of 

those in Banks Peninsula, damage was caused to wahi taonga and 

wahi tapu, cultural values associated with waterways and mahinga kai.   

 5 

 Valued facilities such as QEII Stadium, Centennial Pool and AMI 

Stadium as well as other sporting facilities has also affected 

participation in sports.  Social housing and low cost rentals which has 

primarily impacted on low income earners, Housing New Zealand and 

Christchurch City Council social housing units were significantly 10 

affected. 

 

 In summary, in my opinion the successful recovery in cultural 

infrastructure and wellbeing will be achieved by more enabling district 

plan provisions for a wide range of community facilities that meet the 15 

need of the community, especially in the residential zones. 

 

 More enabling district plan provisions to allow for co-location and/or 

mixed use facilities as providers wish.  Agencies and organisations 

collaborating, co-locating, co-ordinating on the rebuild of community 20 

and public facilities where practical, including the efficient and 

effective use of funds. 

 

 More enabling district plan provisions to allow for housing repair and 

rebuild and permitting temporary community facilities during the 25 

recovery phase. 

 

 Thank you. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Ms Mitchell.  Yes, Mr Winchester. 30 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [9.47 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning, Ms Mitchell.  In terms 

of the mix of ownership or management of community facilities, are 35 

you able to advise roughly what the split is, say, between the Crown 

and Council or public and private? 

 

MS MITCHELL:   No, I do not have those details. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Is there a majority of community facilities owned by 

public organisations such as the Council and Crown or what is the split 

roughly, do you know? 

 

MS MITCHELL:   So, as I mentioned before, I do not know what the split is 45 

but the mix is predominantly public, private and Crown owned. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you.  And in terms of private community 

facilities, are we talking about sporting clubrooms and the like as being 

that sector that is predominantly privately owned? 

 5 

MS MITCHELL:   There is a mixture within that space.  Some of it is sport 

related and some of it comes down to community, you know, clubs 

such as Cubs.  There is also quite an impact which has occurred for 

church groups in terms of loss of their places to workshop.  So it is 

quite a broad spectrum of damage that has occurred in those facilities 10 

that make up the fabric of our communities. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And, in terms of I guess that split between public and 

private, there is a need to deal with all of them in terms of the rebuild 

and recovery, is there not? 15 

 

MS MITCHELL:   Given the areas where the damage has occurred then, yes, it 

is quite wide ranging. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you would agree that the location and the timing 20 

and scale of investment decisions around community facilities would 

largely be in the hands of public bodies such as the Council and the 

Crown? 

 

  [9.50 am] 25 

 

MS MITCHELL:   Not necessarily. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And in terms of I suppose the scale of investment, say, 

for larger community facilities, and we are talking about things like 30 

QEII and libraries and major sporting and cultural facilities, it is largely 

public money, is it not? 

 

MS MITCHELL:   For the large anchor projects and larger scale facilities then, 

yes, the funds for those come from the Crown. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you.  And, just finally, in terms of the need 

to permit temporary facilities, community facilities, during the recovery 

phase are examples of that, things like churches and clubrooms and 

having to relocate to quite different locations or different types of 40 

facilities? 

 

MS MITCHELL:   Yes, within the examples of temporary facilities, some of it 

is associated to those examples that you provide.  Others relate to the 

NGO sector in terms of their provision of critical social services and 45 
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their need to be able to have temporary arrangements in place prior to a 

longer term arrangement being resolved. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see.  And in terms of the recovery phase, you talk 

about the need to permit community facilities during the recovery 5 

phase, the suggestion in the Council’s version of the Strategic 

Directions chapter is that temporary activities will be largely 

discontinued by 30 April 2018.  Is that, in your view, likely to be a 

sufficient time period balancing the various interests to enable the 

recovery of community facilities in general? 10 

 

MS MITCHELL:   So in terms of recovery from a disaster it can take, you 

know from international experience, between 10 to 20 years.  So I think 

the current arrangement or proposal to 2018 is a good move.  Primarily 

I would propose that whatever enabling provisions can be made 15 

continue as long as is going to be required. 

 

 The difficulty in this particular space is there is not a record of all the 

facilities that have been damaged and all the requirements that need to 

be rebuilt.  So I think care needs to be taken to assume that recovery is 20 

even because, in terms of the data and the evidence that I have relied 

upon, that evidence shows us the recovery is not even and that those 

areas that are significantly impacted, predominantly in the eastern 

suburbs, are going to take some time in terms of the planning 

requirements before that can be achieved. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Thank you for your evidence.  Thank you, 

sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I have no questions, thank you, Ms Mitchell. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   Just one question thank you, Ms Mitchell.  Paragraph 9.10 

of your evidence where you make comment on Mr Stevenson’s new 

policy.  I just want to understand and get your opinion on what it means 

in fact.  It says, “Provide for the establishment of community facilities 

in existing and planned urban areas to meet the needs of the 40 

community…”  - that part makes sense – “… while encouraging the co-

location and shared use of facilities between different groups…” - that 

makes sense - and then it says, “… to aid their recovery”.  What does 

the “aiding their recovery” mean in that context, what is it the recovery 

of and who is it that is affected by it? 45 
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MS MITCHELL:   Yes.  So in terms of the “aid their recovery” there are two 

different aspects to that.  One is the overall form of buildings that may 

be required but also there is the aspect around the psychosocial 

recovery and the aspect of planning together, co-locating, sharing 

services et cetera has been found in the response phase in particular to 5 

aid those people that work from those facilities, for want of a better 

word, to their recovery specifically. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Do you think those words add anything to the policy? 

 10 

MS MITCHELL:   I think it is important that the words “recovery’ are featured 

in the plan because we are experiencing obviously an unprecedented 

situation here so it would be my opinion, sir, that the word “recovery” 

is included in some way.  Whether the word “aid” is correct, I am not a 

planning expert so different words may be more useful. 15 

 

  [9.55 am] 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Okay, thank you.  Thank you, Ms Mitchell.  No further 

questions, sir. 20 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one, thank you, Mr Chairman.  Just on the same 

theme, Ms Mitchell, just at paragraph 9.10 and you go over in 9.11 to 25 

express support for Mr Stevenson’s view and then refer to the Crown’s 

amended version in your last sentence.   

 

 Just so that I understand, I have got Mr Timms’ evidence in front of 

me, the policy on recovery and rebuilding which is on page 19 if you 30 

wanted to look at it, but is your position that there is no difference now 

between the Council’s position and your position in terms of what is 

proposed or is your position that you want to go further than 

Mr Stevenson’s draft? 

 35 

MS MITCHELL:   In my opinion, sir, I think that there is further enabling 

provisions that can be considered that would better enable community 

facilities and social infrastructure, including cultural infrastructure, to 

be rebuilt.   

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And are those the other matters that are A, B and C in the 

list in Mr Timms’ evidence below D, D being exactly the same as 

Mr Stevenson’s one, it is the A, B and C, is it, that I should understand 

to be providing that better enablement? 

 45 

MS MITCHELL:   Do you mind if I just refer to Mr Timms’ evidence? 



 Page 592 

  

Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 08.12.14 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, certainly, I just want to make sure exactly what your 

position is on this. 

 

MS MITCHELL:   Absolutely. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am looking at page 19 of Mr Timms’ appendix SRT1 

under the heading - - - 

 

 Yes, thank you, sir, exhibit 1. 10 

 

 Leaving aside the temporary community facilities comment that you 

make I just want to make sure whether in fact what you are saying is 

that you support Mr Timms or not on those matters? 

 15 

MS MITCHELL:   So in response, sir, in my opinion I do support the evidence 

of Mr Timms in terms of the broader clarification that he has included 

in his statement. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Chairman. 20 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Ms Mitchell, I just want to tease out a couple of things so we 

have a better perhaps understanding of the scale and the first one relates 

to the demand on mental health services, and with another hat on I 

should remember these figures but they will not come at the moment.  25 

Are you able to give an indication or should we ask the Health Board 

witnesses of the increase in demand on mental health services since the 

earthquake? 

 

MS MITCHELL:   Yes, I can cover off that information and we collect data 30 

sources from 20 different agencies to measure the long-term impacts on 

social recovery, and included in those datasets is information from the 

Canterbury District Health Board so if I may just refer to? 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes, please and while you are there I would like to know the 35 

breakdown between adult and youth because I know there are very 

significant problems in the youth area. 

 

MS MITCHELL:   And, sir, specifically mental health as opposed to physical? 

 40 

SIR HANSEN:   (INDISTINCT 3.49) 

 

MS MITCHELL:   Sir, would it help if I brought the graphs up to show you? 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 45 
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MS MITCHELL:   I am not sure if that is allowable? 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Well, what you could do is get them and we will take them in 

as an exhibit so we can consider them later and we do not need to go 

through them in detail now. 5 

 

MS MITCHELL:   So, sir, what I would propose is that the mental health 

indicator itself, that we provide you with the information that supports 

that, which includes the graphs as well. 

 10 

SIR HANSEN:   Right. 

 

MS MITCHELL:   But I can, just broadly, cover the fact that the increase in 

mental health services has tripled that of what it was prior to the 

earthquakes and the impact on child adolescent stress is significant. 15 

 

SIR HANSEN:   And again if you can answer this, I think in the broad sense 

would be sufficient, that those increases are across the broad spectrum 

of society? 

 20 

  [10.00 am] 

 

MS MITCHELL:   Absolutely, and in fact what we have found through the 

CERA wellbeing survey is that there is a layer of new vulnerability in 

the greater Christchurch area.  That new vulnerability relates to 35 to 25 

49 year olds and predominantly if they are living in a damaged home 

environment or having to be still in rental accommodation four years 

following on from the earthquake. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   But again at a general level, as is so often with these statistics, 30 

it is the lower socioeconomic groups that are the biggest 

representatives, if I can put it that way, or the majority group 

represented? 

 

MS MITCHELL:   Yes, sir, those with pre-existing health conditions are, yes, 35 

definitely coming through in terms of the data. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   And outside of the mental health area - well, it is part of it but 

if I can go across to the NGOs, can you give us an indication of the 

increase of demand, the NGOs dealing with battered wives, domestic 40 

violence, all of those sorts of things, what sort of increases have they 

faced? 

 

MS MITCHELL:   So in the support service area following on from the 

earthquakes the NGOs and social service agency providers have 45 

worked together to look at what other supports and services may need 
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to be in place that would not normally be here if we didn’t have an 

earthquake.  So those services, such as the Earthquake Support 

Coordination Service, the free counselling and the extended GP 

consultations are all part of that menu of options. 

 5 

 So to a certain extent some of the preventative services and supports 

that have been put in place have reduced some of the flow on effect 

into other services.  However, on average still at this point four years 

following on from the earthquake, 500 people a month made contact 

with the free counselling service.  Over 9,000 homes so, you know, 10 

multiply that by how many people are in the house, have been 

supported by an Earthquake Support Co-ordinator to navigate their way 

through the repair and rebuild process and the extended GP 

consultation time is still being required at this point in time as well.  So 

there has been a flow on effect to all social service providers. 15 

 

SIR HANSEN:   And when you talked earlier these same NGOs have suffered 

themselves from disruption to their premises and all those sorts of 

additional issues? 

 20 

MS MITCHELL:   Yes, sir, that is correct, and in fact a large proportion of 

them are still working from temporary co-located arrangements and 

some of them from their homes. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   And there is an additional layer that I would just like your 25 

comment on, which I think is sometimes overlooked, that a lot of the 

NGOs rely - well, their staff number one but, secondly, they rely on 

volunteers and a number of those have - you can comment, I am not 

putting it in your mouth. 

 30 

MS MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Are there burnout issues and do those people suffer the same 

issues that everybody else that you have been talking about? 

 35 

MS MITCHELL:   So, sir, yes would be the short answer.  So fatigue, 

particularly of those people that are delivering frontline services, as a 

result of the secondary stressors associated with the earthquake, so a 

primary stressor being the earthquake and aftershocks itself.  Secondary 

stressors being the repair and rebuild of people’s homes, the financial 40 

worry, living in that damaged environment and navigating people’s 

way around orange cones and those sorts of things are in the secondary 

stressor space.  So people that are delivering those services are no 

different than the people that are needing to access them as well. 

 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Mr Winchester, anything from the Panel’s 

questions? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, no, sir. 

 5 

SIR HANSEN:   Any re-examination, Mr Radich? 

 

MR RADICH:  No re-examination, sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Ms Mitchell, you may stand down. 10 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.04 am] 

 

MR RADICH:   I call Dr Kelvin Berryman. 

 15 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 

 

<KELVIN BERRYMAN, affirmed [10.05 am] 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [10.05 am] 20 

 

MR RADICH:   Your full name is Kelvin Raymond Berryman? 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   That is correct. 

 25 

MR RADICH:   And you are a principal scientist and the Director of the 

Natural Hazards Research Platform at GNS Science? 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   Dr Berryman, you have a statement of evidence dated 

25 November 2014, do you confirm it to be true and correct? 30 

 

MR RADICH:   Please would you now provide a summary of your evidence 

for the Panel.  

 

DR BERRYMAN:   Thank you very much.  I would like to maybe provide a 35 

little bit of context to that evidence, just to frame it in perhaps a slightly 

wider space.  To begin with, I guess, to emphasise that the events in 

Christchurch have been extraordinary.  We have, at GNS Science and 

with partners, we work on what is called the National Seismic Hazard 

Model which frames the probability or the risk, the hazard, around New 40 

Zealand of natural hazards. 

 

 Christchurch is placed, or the region, Canterbury, is placed in the 

moderate zone across New Zealand.  Considering all hazards it is lower 

than Napier or Wellington but also higher than Auckland or Dunedin.  45 
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So Christchurch on average, would be placed somewhere in that middle 

band. 

 

 However, and in fact the September 2010 earthquake was at about the 

design level for the seismic provisions of the building code for 5 

example, but the events of 2011 were extraordinary.  They are very rare 

with return periods in the orders of several thousand years, it is very 

hard to ascertain the exact number but many thousands of years.  And 

in that sense they present a challenge in knowing what the right future 

provisions should be with respect to natural hazards because they are so 10 

rare. 

 

 In my evidence I speak to the point that there are some elements of the 

Christchurch area that have been made worse because of the 

earthquakes and that is particularly due to the ground level lowering 15 

and effectively the water table rising, that means the propensity for 

liquefaction has in fact increased as a result of the earthquakes. 

 

 Similarly in the Port Hills, because of the very intense ground shaking, 

the rock mass that makes up the Port Hills rocks have been dilated or 20 

extended to some extent so that they are in fact more prone now to 

boulder rolls and rock fall than they were before the earthquake.   

 

 Those two particular issues have been addressed through some of the 

land zoning decisions and so the exacerbated aspects of the earthquakes 25 

have been dealt with through a policy and procedures that have already 

been emplaced through the land zoning decisions.   

 

 For flat land, red zoning largely coincides with areas where there are 

expected to be a high likelihood of future damage within the rebuild, 30 

within the design life of the rebuild, and similarly in the Port Hills, the 

life risk issues have been addressed such that there has been retreat 

from the areas that are thought to be – that have been assessed to be 

exposed to unacceptable levels of future life risk. 

 35 

 So the worst aspects or the exacerbated aspects or constraints on land 

use in Christchurch from the Canterbury earthquake sequence, have 

largely been addressed.  There are ongoing issues with land level 

lowering with the possibility of increased flood risk which has been, 

certainly I know on Christchurch city’s mind at the moment. 40 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

 I think for the Replacement Plan though, it also needs to look forwards, 

not just back at the Canterbury earthquake sequence, but forward into 45 

the other natural hazards that do exist in the region, and this is where 
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the overlap occurs between land level lowering, sea level rise, tsunami, 

increased storm surge, there will be looking forward, the prospect of 

significantly enhanced or exacerbated natural hazard risk arising from a 

combination of these processes. 

 5 

 Also because the natural hazard risks are connected then the total risk is 

the additive risk of each of the individual perils, so a site close to the 

coast, that its relatively low elevation, may be exposed to several 

individual risks.  The total risk with respect, therefore, to perhaps land 

use planning, needs to be the summation of all of those individual risks 10 

in terms of an acceptable outcome. 

 

 The Replacement Plan at the moment – well the Strategic Provisions of 

the Plan at the moment cover those topics conceptually but I think 

looking forward into the natural hazards chapter, there will be a need 15 

for considerable reflection upon how risks compound and also a 

significant challenge to identify what the levels of acceptable future 

losses there might be accruing through natural hazards. 

 

 The natural hazard risks cannot be reduced to zero but there is no 20 

current conversations going on in Canterbury, or in fact very much in 

New Zealand, as to what is an acceptable level of economic loss for a 

region that planning provisions should then addressed.  

 

 This topic has been raised by the scientific community in public space 25 

since very soon after the September 2010 earthquake, but there really 

has not been much traction in addressing some of these, essentially 

national level concerns. 

 

 In closing I would say that it is the compounding risk over the planning 30 

horizon and the determining acceptable levels of economic losses in the 

future from natural hazard events that pose the key aspects to dealing 

with natural hazards in the Replacement Plan. 

 

 Finally, I would also like to say that our view from the natural hazard 35 

research space is that natural hazard risk management is about 

recovery, it is about prosperity, it is about sustainability for the future 

city and the hazard management does not mean no development, it just 

means sustainable development. 

 40 

 Thank you. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Dr Berryman.  Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   There was no cross-examination. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Dr Berryman, thank you very much. 

 

 So in several areas in your evidence you emphasis what you have just 5 

summarised for us, that there is a strong need to establish an acceptable 

risk criteria for the level of economic loss, particularly you are saying, 

the life loss has been essentially largely addressed through the red 

zoning type proposals, so in Christchurch, how far are we away from 

achieving this and from having the information, the tools, and as you 10 

say, the engagement necessary to have the relevant provisions in this 

Plan, what is still needed? 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 15 

DR BERRYMAN:   A conversation amongst – coming from the scientific 

point of view, we have data, we can pull together international 

experience, there are case studies, but fundamentally acceptable risk is 

a societal decision As elected officials I guess we would say elected 

officials are working on behalf of their constituency.  There must be 20 

some future losses in natural hazard events, but what could a region 

sustain economically is perhaps a very good question to ask.  So in the 

research space we have with colleagues been proposing, one could 

consider the regional economy, the regional GDP, consider some 

economic modelling as to what would be viable in terms of sustaining a 25 

loss but still bouncing back or recovering effectively. 

 

 There are – Christchurch in itself represents a tremendous case study in 

the space as well as to what has been acceptable, what has been 

unacceptable, have been the economic impacts and why have the 30 

economic impacts in this region been ameliorated by other aspects. 

 

 So I think, in my evidence, I have suggested that it will be very hard in 

the very short term to come up with the totally agreed criteria, but I 

think a framework for continuing the discussion should be at least the 35 

minimum expectation within the Replacement Plan.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Following on from that, the objective which I think you 

comment on, at the moment the Natural Hazards Objective, has the 

words “avoided or reduced to acceptable levels”. 40 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   Yes. 

 

DS DAWSON:   And from what I understand, and tell me if I am correct in my 

interpretation.  I mean you have said, ‘okay’ to delete that perhaps from 45 

the objective, but the concept needs to be embedded in the Plan, either 
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through definitions or subsequent policies, and I notice that the Crown 

also has a number of submissions relating to definitions, for example, 

which you refer to which ask for all those sorts of, what is intolerable 

risk, risk to life, acceptable economic risk. 

 5 

DR BERRYMAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So I am wanting to understand what you think needs to be 

inputted into the Plan now, in the meantime, in order to provide that 

framework, given that you are saying that it is very hard to sort it all 10 

out in the short term?  

 

DR BERRYMAN:   Yes, I think in my view, I could imagine a framework 

which set out the goal of establishing some of the definitions of words 

like intolerable or acceptable, with respect and being specifically 15 

identifying the life risk issues versus economic sustainability or 

economic futures. 

 

 I think such a framework could be established relatively quickly such 

that whether it was a percentage of GDP or some other measure which 20 

could be considered to be a tolerable impact with certain return periods, 

could be a useful approach. 

 

 I noted that just in the last week or so the UN has accepted the 

proposition that the hundred year return period stress test could be a 25 

useful criteria on which to establish the balance between risk reduction 

versus risk acceptance. 

 

 So there is a number of international initiatives, I think there is a 

number of researchers working on this sort of topic in New Zealand, so 30 

a conversation, I think, could pretty rapidly put such a framework 

together. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But when you say rapidly, you do not mean like before the 

hearing on natural hazards at the end of February, for example, are you 35 

saying that or are you saying a framework in and then quickly get on to 

it after that? 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   I think an agreement that a framework would be needed 

would certainly be a good step.  Ideally it would be nice to expand on 40 

that a little bit more by the end of February but as I say, a call for this 

sort of action has been around ever since the start of the Christchurch 

earthquake sequence, if not before, so it is pretty difficult to get this 

completed piece of work in a very short timeframe.  Because it is an all 

of society situation, there is a note in my evidence, it really needs that 45 

broad conversation. 
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  [10.20 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much, Dr Berryman.  Dr Mitchell. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   Good morning Dr Berryman.  Just a couple of questions.  

Could I just refer you to your paragraph 8.3 and then we will take it 

from there. 

 

 At your paragraph 8.3 you set out the new version of objectives, 3.6.5. 10 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And at paragraph 8.4, you say you do not have major 

concerns regarding that amendment which I guess is something less 15 

than a glowing endorsement of it. 

 

 Bearing in mind that this is a Strategic Directions chapter, so it is not 

drilling into the level of detail that the Natural Hazards chapter itself 

would have, what are the essential elements that that policy needs to 20 

capture in your view? 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   The objective 3.6.5? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Yes. 25 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   I think that we do, through, I guess, as I understand, taking 

advice from planners, that the Resource Management Act does require 

specific attention to environments and in that sense I agree that that is 

the appropriate terminology, “the risk to people, property’ 30 

infrastructure and the environment to be avoided or reduce”. 

 

 I have agreed that taking the acceptable levels away at this level is okay 

provided it is addressed within the Natural Hazards proposal. 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   You do not think that what is left in that modified version is 

so vanilla as to be virtually useless? 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   I think it is fine as a high level objective provided, as I 

say, provided the detail does come through in terms of definitions or in 40 

the Natural Hazards chapter. 

 

 I guess, as I tried to point out in that evidence, my concern about 

natural hazard risk on the environment is that the natural hazards, or 

what we call natural hazards are in fact just natural processes, and so 45 
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they have always, earthquakes and tsunamis, have always impacted 

upon the landscape, that is why the landscape is like it is. 

 

 So to be looking to reduce the impact of these on the environment, I 

think, needs some care because I think that is a very slippery slope, and 5 

I guess I point out that maybe there are some elements of the 

environment, wetland for example, that is deemed to be of very high 

value, and should be protected from other natural processes, but stop 

banks for example, are not about protecting the environment, they are 

protecting man’s use of the environment. 10 

 

 So I think that protecting the environment from the environment is not 

a completely sensible idea. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Given though that this chapter is the overarching direction 15 

that the provisions that you are talking about need to flow on from - - - 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - do you think it is important to provide some specific 20 

guidance as to what the draft is of those detailed provisions need to do?  

For example, many natural hazards or risks from natural hazards you 

cannot avoid and it just seems to me and I will be direct about it, is that 

what is there is planner speak, and it is done at such a level of 

generality as to mean that when you pick that up to write the natural 25 

hazards chapter or the technical aspects that it would support, it would 

not give you any guidance at all. 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   I would like to defer to my planning colleagues rather than 

speak to - - - 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Well, I have asked you – and I am really keen to get your 

view because at the end of the day planners are going to have to 

interpret factual information that folk like you provide, and if you have 

served up a brief for developing a natural hazards factual framework 35 

for this district plan, and objective 3.6.5 is what you have got, and we 

gave it to you and five other people of similar qualifications and 

experience, would that guide you in sufficient detail so that what you 

will each produce would be similar? 

 40 

  [10.25 am] 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   I am tempted to agree with you in that space that it is as 

you suggest, rather a little bit vanilla in terms of planning speak, but 

this is not – I would always be looking to work with my planning 45 

colleagues rather than to be working on this in isolation. 
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 I think I would come back – if I may say, the conversation at the very 

beginning of the hearing this morning about a consultation, joint party 

consultation ahead of the natural hazards proposal, is a way of giving 

effect to what is here as the objective, making sure that it does connect 5 

in a meaningful way with the natural hazard proposal. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you Dr Berryman. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes, Judge. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman, just a point to clarify.  I think 

that has largely covered the questions I have had, but bearing in mind 

your role as an independent expert where really you are here to assist 

us, and if I was to say to you there is no obligation under the RMA to 15 

inherently reduce or avoid the risks of natural hazards for the 

environment, if that was the brief you were working to, do I take from 

your earlier answers, you think the objective would be better expressed 

without those words from your point of view, not as a planner, but as 

an expert in this area? 20 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   As I say, I think there are some elements of the 

environment which one takes to be of extremely high value - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 25 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   - - - and in that sense I can agree that we want to restrict 

the impact of some of the natural processes on other elements of the 

environment, and at that level, I think that is acceptable to me. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But it is not – what I hear you saying is it is not something 

that is driven out of my specialist area - - - 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   No. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - it is driven out of a concern for that issue that comes 

from other quarters? 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   That is correct. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, and just secondly, in terms of tuning up and 

making something meaningful out of an objective, am I correct to read 

what you think needs to be focused on in terms of framing a direction 

on this topic early in the planning process, is that what you discuss at 

8.6, in particular, in your first two sentences? 45 
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 I ask that because I read those words after you answered questions and 

gave your summary and it seemed to capture your summary quite well 

for me.  

 

DR BERRYMAN:   Yes, I think going forward we need to think about natural 5 

hazard risk in a rather holistic way.  At many sites there are multiple 

hazard processes that influence that site.  Often in my experience in 

New Zealand, hazards are dealt with one at a time, yet actually for the 

economic future of that site or even the life risk issues imposed at that 

site, it is the cumulative risk that really bears upon the economic 10 

futures. 

 

 Hazards have often been dealt with one at a time.  They need to be 

dealt with holistically and cumulatively.  The knowledge exists where 

the frequency and magnitude and impact of individual events can be 15 

joined together.  The opportunity exists to significantly advance the 

natural hazard risk management, but there does need to be somewhat of 

a fresh approach, quantitative, semi quantitative at least, approach to 

this rather than I would say, rules within district scheme provisions. 

 20 

  [10.30 am] 

 

 Whether this research or whether this economic and vulnerability 

analysis takes place within a district scheme or whether it sits behind a 

district scheme of course, I take advice as to what the proper 25 

mechanism is but if I could be – I would suggest in my experience that 

the way that the district scheme provisions around the country have not 

really dealt with natural hazard risk in a very effective way, the 

Replacement Plan here represents an opportunity. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Dr Berryman. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Just one question, Dr Berryman.  You talked earlier about 

putting in place a framework, but at the end of the day it is a societal 

decision.  Would you think the framework could be extended as to 35 

guide that societal debate in decision making? 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   Yes, that is a very important point. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   And should it in a document such as this, again not as a 40 

planner but in your scientific role? 

 

DR BERRYMAN:   Yes, I mean in our research space we are very keenly 

aware of the fact that education is often needed before, shall we say not 

appropriate, but before considered informed positions or decisions 45 

society could take, so that is where I think there is very long term 
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objective here of education awareness, so that society in general can 

make the decisions that it is happy with and can stick by. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, you may stand down, thank you. 

 5 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.31 am] 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes, Mr Radich. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir, but the schedule has us now at morning break, 10 

but would you like to move beyond that. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   If Mr Hobern is here, there is no cross-examination, I think 

we will dispose of that and have the break, a rather early break, so I 

think - - - 15 

 

<DAVID HOBERN, sworn [10.33 am] 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [10.33 am] 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Your name is David James Hobern? 

 

MR HOBERN:   Correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And it is not David Paul Hobern as your statement 25 

indicates? 

 

MR HOBERN:   Yes, that is right. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you hold the position of acting programme 30 

manager at the Christchurch Earthquake Recovery team with the 

Ministry of Education? 

 

MR HOBERN:   Correct. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you have given a statement of evidence, 

Mr Hobern, dated 25 November 2014? 

 

MR HOBERN:   Correct. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and you confirm that to be true and correct? 

 

MR HOBERN:   Absolutely. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Please now would you provide a summary of your 45 

evidence for the Panel. 
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MR HOBERN:   Education plays an important part of the social, economic and 

cultural recovery of greater Christchurch, and after the events of 2010 

and 2011, over 215 schools received some sort of earthquake damage.  

The majority of State schools outside of Christchurch City Council area 5 

have been repaired. 

 

 For the remaining schools, in November 2013, the Government 

announced a programme of $1.137 billion to fix 115 State schools in 

the greater Christchurch area. 10 

 

 This was not only fixing earthquake damage, this was also to fix the 

historical issues, the current issues and at the same time modernise the 

school property, our portfolio. 

 15 

 The business case also resulted in 19 schools being closed through 

either closure, direct closure or mergers.  This was not only due to 

infrastructure works required but also the significant demographic shift 

across the city. 

 20 

 Previously to 2010, school boards of trustees ran property projects on 

State school sites.  There was only a little control of what sort of 

projects could and could not take place in schools, normally, only 

thought of in the now. 

 25 

  [10.35 am] 

 

 Since the events of 2010 and 2011, the Ministry has taken back control 

of the capital expenditure on State school sites within Christchurch.  

We have tried to coordinate the various programmes of work, which 30 

have included earthquake damage, structural strengthening, weather 

tightness issues, modernisation, capital maintenance and resolving 

infrastructure issues.  To enable this work to be undertaken in a well-

planned and future thinking way, we now try to look at the school 

development as a 20, 30 or 40 year plus view and not as previously, 35 

either the now or 10 years max. 

 

 We are also obviously trying to make the redevelopment of the schools 

in Christchurch in a most efficient and cost effective manner possible. 

To enable education to support all communities and provide for the 40 

different needs of the communities during the recovery and renewal 

period, it is important to have been able to locate these facilities outside 

urban areas as well as within them. 

 

45 
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 We are also actively looking for partnership and sharing opportunities 

on school sites to enhance both school and community facilities across 

the city.  Therefore, in a summary statement, it is not good enough for 

us just to rebuild the school network as it formerly was. 

 5 

 Thank you. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Hobern. Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I have no questions, thank you. 10 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thanks, Mr Hobern, just one question. 

 15 

 Post-earthquake, in my understanding, there were lots of what I call 

double shifting of schools that were not damaged or not damaged very 

much, you know, whereby the existing school would go in the morning 

and someone else would come in in the afternoon.  Is that still ongoing 

and are people still in allots of those sorts of arrangements or have 20 

things normalised? 

 

MR HOBERN:   Things have normalised.  There is no longer any double 

shifting, but there are still schools which are off their former home 

sites. 25 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Would you say that at the moment that the quality of 

education for the young folk of Christchurch is sort of on a par with 

what is being achieved in the rest of the country, or would you expect 

the results through NCEA and other things, and whatever other 30 

measures are taken, to be down on what you would expect? 

 

MR HOBERN:   It is definitely not my area of expertise. I am definitely more 

focused on the property part, but I believe the results have not 

significantly changed. 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Right, thank you. Thank you, Mr Hobern. Thank you, your 

Honour. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Judge? 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, Mr Chairman. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Hobern, you may stand down. 

 45 
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 Thank you, we will take the morning adjournment now for 15 minutes, 

thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.38 am] 

 5 

ADJOURNED [10.38 am] 

 

RESUMED [10.55 am] 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Yes, Mr Radich? 10 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you, sir.  Just in relation to a question the Panel 

asked both of Ms Mitchell and Mr Hobern, there is in my hand a 

document called the Canterbury Wellbeing Index, which gives the type 

of information that Ms Mitchell was referring to in terms of mental 15 

wellbeing, also deals with educational achievement.  I might hand this 

in and produce it as an exhibit, if I may, and make copies available to 

my learned friends.  It seems to be a useful source of information. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes, I think Exhibit 6 and we will say Ms Mitchell in brackets 20 

after it. Thank you. 

 

EXHIBIT #6 – MS MITCHELL 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, sir, I call Stephen Ronald Timms. 25 

 

<STEPHEN TIMMS, sworn [10.56 am] 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [10.56 am] 

 30 

MR RADICH:   Your full name is Stephen Ronald Timms? 

 

MR TIMMS:   That is correct. 

 

MR RADICH:  You are the Principal Advisor - Planning at the Canterbury 35 

Earthquake Recovery Authority? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   You have a statement of evidence dated 25 November 2014? 40 

 

MR TIMMS:    Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   You confirm it to be true and correct, Mr Timms? 

 45 

MR TIMMS:   It is, yes. 
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MR RADICH:   Please would you now provide a summary of your evidence 

for the Panel. 

 

MR TIMMS:   Thank you, good morning. 5 

 

 I appreciate the Panel has read my evidence, however I would like to 

use the 10 minutes to highlight a few points. 

 

 I acknowledge the Council has undertaken significant work towards 10 

producing a Replacement Plan, it is not an easy task given the 

complexity and scale of recovering from New Zealand’s largest ever 

natural disaster, and the divergent audience of district plans. 

 

 As stated in my evidence and reiterated through legal submissions in 15 

other evidence, the Crown supports the Council in this process and 

shares the same general objective for a timely and sustainable recovery 

of Christchurch, recognising the wide definition of recovery.  

 

 However, as I say in my evidence, I consider that improvement is 20 

needed to better reflect the statutory framework, particularly the 

recovery strategy, the LURP, the Christchurch Central Recovery Plan 

and the Statement of Expectations, and to better achieve the purpose of 

the RMA.  There is a once in a lifetime opportunity to reimagine 

Christchurch, which is unique to most cities around the world.  25 

 

 In my evidence I agree with Mr Peter Eman where he states that it is 

his understanding that neither the RPS nor the LURP direct, in the 

broad sense, a rebuild at any cost approach.  I agree there is a need to 

better manage natural hazards, to protect strategic infrastructure, to 30 

rebuild communities not just buildings and to recognise that residents 

and businesses need some certainty about the requirements for 

rebuilding and also the type and quality of development that might be 

built next door or in their community.  

 35 

 However, the Crown also does not want to rebuild at any cost, where 

those costs involve imposing an unnecessary regulatory burden on 

Crown agencies or developers, or requirements that affect the economic 

feasibility of development and attractiveness of Christchurch to 

investors. 40 

 

 Other Crown witnesses have explained their concerns about a planning 

framework that is unclear and does not provide confidence to the 

market and the community.  I agree with them and reiterate that there is 

a need for the Strategic Directions Proposal to provide proactive and 45 
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concise leadership and to state clearly what the desired outcomes are 

for Christchurch. 

 

 Other witnesses have explained the scale of repair, rebuilding and 

recovery activity, both planned and underway, and the unique 5 

opportunity that that represents. 

 

 Christchurch will need to leverage its competitive advantages in order 

to retain and compete for a skilled work force for capital investment 

and house building at scale, along with a variety of business and other 10 

activities.  Similar size cities around the world all have their own 

particular advantages and points of difference, particularly other cities 

in New Zealand and Australia where people in capital can move so 

freely. 

 15 

 I have explained the importance of the recovery strategy in the petal 

diagram on page 8 of that document, and its social, economic, cultural, 

environmental and built elements are all inextricably linked, and most 

importantly focused on the outcomes for the community, which is at 

the centre of all efforts under the recovery strategy and therefore CERA 20 

and the strategic partners priorities. 

 

 All of section 4 of the Recovery Strategy has statutory effect. The 

Recovery Strategy states that it is to be read with and forms part of 

plans under the RMA, including the Replacement Plan, in accordance 25 

with section 15 of the CERA Act.  

 

  [11.00 am] 

 

 The land use recovery plan lists a range of actions regarding the 30 

District Plan, however it is not only the 50 actions, or the 15 outcomes 

that directions must be not inconsistent with, but the entirety of the 

LURP. 

 

 The LURP relies on a range of tools and mechanisms to work alongside 35 

a streamlined District Plan to facilitate and lead recovery.  This 

includes actions that direct the Council to develop a package of 

instruments to promote intensification, city living, development of 

exemplar projects to demonstrate good quality, profitable medium 

density housing, to review development contributions, incentives for 40 

ground field development and together with other investments by the 

Crown, such as anchor projects, public realm and infrastructure 

improvements, all work together to make existing urban areas an 

attractive place for housing and intensification, retail and commercial 

activity, and therefore use infrastructure and limited resources more 45 

efficiently. 
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 In my opinion those other methods could be better explained in the 

supporting section 32 analysis.  

 

 The vision from the Christchurch Central Recovery Plan states that the 5 

central city will be the thriving heart of an international city.  The 

Replacement Plan should not be inconsistent with achieving that aim. 

 

 Through the process of preparing the LURP a wide range of specific 

improvements to the District Plan were identified as desirable to 10 

facilitate recovery, but were left to be delivered by the Christchurch 

City Council through holistic review of the District Plan.  It must be 

made clear that the 22 different agencies represented in the Crown’s 

submission have built up an expectation that some significant 

improvements will be made to the proposals to facilitate recovery. 15 

 

 This is not a philosophical position regarding producing rules and 

regulations, but it is based on the reality of trying to rebuild and to 

provide for the needs of the Christchurch community, and you have 

heard from the Fire Service, Ministry of Education, our submission sets 20 

out the requirements for Housing New Zealand, NZTA and a range of 

other Crown agencies about the problematic problems with the Plan as 

it stands at the moment. 

 

 The need to work with the community and the private sector is 25 

expressly recognised in the Christchurch City Council Three Year Plan, 

which states, and I quote, “working with private developers and the 

wider community to plan and build much of the city’s urban 

environment is also crucial to successful development”.  

 30 

 I have suggested that this statement is incorporated into the Strategic 

Directions Proposal, but to replace the word development with the 

word recovery. 

 

 Likewise, my evidence includes reference to the vision of the 35 

Christchurch Economic Development Strategy, which is prepared by 

the Council’s Economic Development Agency, and the LURP which 

together state that Christchurch should be the best place to do business 

in Australasia.  

 40 

 My evidence also dwells on the importance of clarity and usability of 

the Plan, and the use of plain English.  Besides the obvious need for 

documents to say what they mean, the direction provided by the LURP 

and Statement of Expectations makes this essential. 

 45 
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 I do not intend to lecture the Panel on how to draft plans, you are a lot 

more experienced and skilled at drafting and the use of language, 

particularly in an RMA context, than I am.  I am sure decisions on this 

proposal will prove valuable for future hearings and drafting of the 

remainder of the proposals.  5 

 

 I have read the Preliminary Usability Assessment by EMS and the 

evidence of Mark Chrisp, I generally agree that definitions and 

complexity of proposals are problematic and will confuse, delay and 

frustrate recovery efforts unless improved.  10 

 

 I generally support the recommendations about the objectives and 

policies, but I have not considered in detail the new plan usabilities and 

other sections of that report. 

 15 

 I reiterate that this should not be a plan that only Christchurch based 

planners and lawyers can use, but needs to be a plan for anyone 

wanting to contribute to the recovery.  

 

 Recovery is defined in the CERA Act as including restoration and 20 

enhancement, my evidence points to the Court of Appeal decision, 

Canterbury Regional Council and Independent Fisheries, for the further 

useful explanation of the wide interpretation of recovery and 

rebuilding.  

 25 

 The recovery strategy states that recovery is inherently future focused 

and you have heard from other Crown witnesses that there should not 

be an artificial distinction about when recovery is complete. For that 

reason, proposals for time limited exemptions for some rules could be 

problematic. 30 

 

 To have no rules apply while the city is rebuilt and then reintroduce 

those rules to apply to minimal buildings built per year in the city after 

rebuilding activity returns to business as usual does not seem to make 

sense to me. 35 

 

 If rules and assessment matters are required for resource management 

purposes, then they should apply while the city is rebuilt.  If rules are 

unnecessary, overly complex or go beyond the requirements of the 

Building Act, then they have no place in a district plan. 40 
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  [11.05 am] 

 

 It is acutely important during the recovery period to reduce prescriptive 

regulations, improve clarity and use plain English, however that 

principle should apply for the life of a plan and beyond, not only for 5 

recovery. 

 

 My evidence was finalised based on the understanding there would be a 

further mediation session to discuss the latest iteration of the Strategic 

Directions Proposal and agree a refined version.  While the version 10 

attached to my evidence is better than the Council’s version, in my 

opinion, it can still be improved and I remain open to suggestions from 

the Panel where I can further assist in reaching a decision. 

 

 My evidence explains and references the relevant sections of the 15 

Recovery Strategy, the LURP, CCRP and Statement of Expectations, 

which clearly direct the Council to enable recovery.  

 

 Our counsel have ably outlined why and how the proposal should 

incorporate the examples offered in the Crown’s version. 20 

 

 A number of Council witnesses have explained that the Replacement 

Plan should be read as a whole and certainly the Strategic Directions 

Proposal should be.  If that is the case, then every objective and policy 

in the Strategic Directions Proposal does not need a list of qualifiers 25 

under it, which confuse and dilute key messages.  

 

 A clearer structure and a more thematic or issue based list of objectives 

and supporting policies will help users to navigate their way around 

and understand that there is clear support for more housing, enabling 30 

business infrastructure efficiency, utilising and investing in urban areas 

for urban activities and support rebuilding communities, for example. 

 

 In my opinion the cross-cutting policies, such as natural hazards, 

supporting recovery, environmental protection, integrating land use and 35 

infrastructure and mana whenua will not be ignored if they are not 

listed under objectives that provide clear support for housing or 

business, for example. 

 

 I support the introduction of a process provision, in the heart of most 40 

issues associated with the performance of the RMA’s practice and it is 

very much at the forefront of concerns about the Replacement Plan.  

This issue was tackled in the TAG Report under sections 6 and 7 for 

the Ministry of the Environment, and it was largely opposed by 

planners at the time, however given the circumstances in Christchurch 45 

it seems entirely necessary to include in the plan. 
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 As an aside, the sensible recommendations in the TAG Report, by 

coincidence, seem to have a similar intent to those in the Statement of 

Expectations, and I do not consider that including them in the plan 

would be precluded and in fact would better serve to achieve the 5 

purposes of the RMA. 

 

 The inclusion of the reference to the Urban Design Protocol in the 

Proposal is problematic.  I note Council’s urban designer, Mr Hugh 

Nicholson, agreed that it is hard to give effect to the seven C’s directly, 10 

and in my opinion will create uncertainty of the consenting processes.  

 

 Upon careful reading of chapter 6 of the RPS, I have not found internal 

inconsistencies, and together with the LURP there is a clear direction to 

provide clarity regarding urban design. 15 

 

 The process of creating a good district plan draws on planners training, 

experience and knowledge of how cities and districts work.  Elected 

leaders and communities need to be encouraged when they undertake 

policy initiatives to draw on the considerable ability of planners.  By 20 

fixing the problems with this plan, as suggested in the Crown 

submission and by other submitters, planners should find that more of 

their abilities will be put to the service of guiding innovative solutions 

for the city’s future.  

 25 

 That feeling alone, the feeling that the training and experience is 

consequential, can inspire planners own inventiveness in creating great 

cities.  The plan and planners that administer it, can then enable and 

provide leadership for the recovery to be game changers for positive 

growth and change rather than be seen as the gatekeeper trying to find 30 

ways around the plan to facilitate recovery. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. We have actually got a listing of cross-

examination by Mr Cleary on behalf of Eros Clearwater, but I see he is 

not here but you are, Ms Semple, so should that actually read the 35 

Property Council? 

 

MS SEMPLE:   No, sir, it should not.  I suspect that Mr Cleary is not aware 

that that witness is ahead of schedule.  I am happy to go and make an 

inquiry of him and have him down here. 40 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Well, it is an indicative schedule, so anyway we will go 

straight to you, Mr Winchester, if that does not cause difficulties to 

you? 

 45 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, that is no problem, sir.  Thank you. 
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 I cannot speak for Mr Cleary, but I had understood he may have 

advanced his issues through legal submissions rather than - - - 

 

SIR HANSEN:   And withdrawn, you could well be right, it is just that it is still 5 

listed in the schedule at the moment. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. Thank you. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [11.10 am] 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Good morning, Mr Timms, thank you for your 

evidence.  

 

 Now, it is correct, is it not, that there is a key difference in terms of 15 

looking at your version of the Strategic Directions chapter and Mr 

Eman’s version being disaggregation of issues, so your version is more 

aggregated under specific topics as the Council’s is, I suppose more of 

an integrated holistic approach? 

 20 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, you could take that view  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And what the Council’s version seems to do as 

explained by a number of witnesses is trying to acknowledge the inter-

relationships between different issues such as housing and transport 25 

and infrastructure, do you understand that? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Absolutely, yes, agree with the thoughts behind that. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and is it fair to say on the other hand then the 30 

Crown’s version and your recommended version is not perhaps quite so 

explicit about those relationships? 

 

MR TIMMS:   I would not say it is missing, no. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, I did not suggest it was missing, it was just perhaps 

not quite as explicit as the drafting approach the Council has taken. 

 

MR TIMMS:   I guess it is taking a different approach than particularly the first 

two objectives and policies that the Council has set out, yes. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, but the reality is depending upon which approach 

the Panel prefers.  The issues are complex and inter-related are they 

not? 

 45 
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MR TIMMS:   Absolutely, yes, and recovering from New Zealand’s largest 

disaster is going to be complex and as explained the integration as set 

out by the recovery strategy and other documents.  There are different 

ways of structuring that, those proposals. 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you are satisfied, and I think you gave evidence to 

that effect just in your summary that your drafting approach will enable 

those inter-relationships and complex issues to be identified and 

weighed and balanced? 

 10 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, and makes the other messages more clear for the user. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, now talking about the process provisions 

and the Statement of Expectations do I understand in terms of 

subparagraph A of schedule 4 of the Statement of Expectations and 15 

possibly I, which is using fair concise language and being easy to use, 

you are familiar with those provisions? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, so I do not need to take you through them.  

In terms of an appropriate process provision is that addressed at page 

19 of your version? 

 

MR TIMMS:   That is one example of how it could be drafted, yes. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So we all know what we are talking about, so if we turn 

to page 19 there is a policy there listed in your version, recovery 

decision making and that is how you have translated the Statement of 

Expectations into the Strategic Directions chapter? 30 

 

MR TIMMS:   One way to me, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Is there anything else in your version which also 

specifically takes up those directions? 35 

 

MR TIMMS:   I do not think so. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, that is helpful, I just wanted that clarified.  

From your point of view you do not think it is necessary to effectively 40 

replicate paragraphs A and I of the Statement of Expectations, you can 

synthesise them and put them in a more concise policy which gives 

adequate direction? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, I have not tested that with a wide group of readers but that 45 

is our approach. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you.  All right, now I want to ask a couple of 

questions around the importance of the central city and the privacy of 

the central city.  You may recall my opening legal submissions, it 

seems like a long time ago, but there was a suggestion in there that 5 

perhaps the Crown’s version of this chapter may inadvertently have 

diluted the privacy of the central city, do you recall that in submission? 

 

MR TIMMS:   I do recall you making that submission, yes. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, but from your point of view you are quite satisfied 

and it remains the Crown’s position that the central city does have 

priority and special recognition? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, that is set out pretty clearly in the LURP, yes. 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you and you heard Mr Ogg’s evidence the other 

day when he talked about development in suburban centres versus the 

central city and he explained a pretty clear preference about that? 

 20 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Now is it fair to say that in terms of the way you have 25 

approached the drafting with regard to business objectives and centres 

that the Crown does not necessarily want to limit development at 

suburban centres, it still wants to enable some growth and development 

in suburban centres and key activity centres? 

 30 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, to an extent, yes, and I think that message needs to be clear 

up front in this proposal, the testing of what the floor space limits might 

be or any other limits that come through future hearings. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, is that dealt with primarily under your 35 

objective 3.6.3 and following policies at page 21 and 22? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, that is where we set it out and grouped that together 

thematically under those headings. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you and you are satisfied that that appropriately 

recognises the central city’s intended role in prominence?  So if we 

look at page 22, policy 3.6.2.7(a). 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, which makes it quite clear, it is relevant to the central city. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you now in your summary for you some 10 

minutes ago you talked about the need to emphasise Christchurch’s 

point of difference, do you remember that? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I will just ask you to look at a couple of provisions here 

in your version and bearing in mind the need I suppose to talk about 

Christchurch’s point of difference and particular character, perhaps a 

second explanation as to why some references have been deleted.  The 10 

first one is at page 19 - - -  

 

MR TIMMS:   Of the Crown’s version? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, your version sir, 3.6.2, The Objective City Form 15 

and Development, and you will see under subparagraph A the words on 

the second line “a distinctive identity” have been deleted in that 

version? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Also page 27 under objective 3.6.4(iii), the words “the 

general prominence of planting and natural features in the city” have 

also been deleted? 

 25 

MR TIMMS:   Sorry, I am just having trouble finding the second ones. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Page 27. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   I think you will find it on the screen in front of you. 30 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, I see that now, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Bearing in mind the need for Christchurch to have a 

distinctive identity, character and to celebrate that and highlight it do 35 

you not think it would be useful to retain recognition of those particular 

points? 

 

MR TIMMS:   I will just go back to the first one and you will see that we have 

added in other words around that. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MR TIMMS:   So quality urban environment, attractive to businesses, visitors, 

I did not think it was necessary, it was repetitive having distinctive 45 

identity in there.  The second one likewise there has been other words 
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added in about the quality of the built and natural environment, natural 

features and open spaces.  I was not convinced that the general 

prominence of planting would necessarily make sense to all readers. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see, so you are aware of Christchurch is often referred 5 

to as the Garden City, and has distinctive planting and trees? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   You do not think that is a point of difference which 10 

could be emphasised? 

 

MR TIMMS:   It could be, yes, particularly unclear about what the vision for 

Christchurch is at the moment though.  I do not know if we are still 

aiming to be a Garden City or something else, it is something the 15 

Council needs to revisit I think. 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  If I can just ask you to look at page 18 of 20 

your version and policy on temporary recovery activities.  Your version 

at paragraph (b)(iii) has deleted the discontinuance date. 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   Can you explain why that is? 

 

MR TIMMS:   I think there is a bit of uncertainty around that date that I 

imagine will be tackled in the next hearing around temporary activities. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Right. 

 

MR TIMMS:   The Panel have the opportunity to come back and revisit that, I 

think, without evidence at the moment, it is kind of hard to stick to that 

date. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So the rules we have got at the moment in terms of what 

has come out, indicates that the date by which temporary activities will 

be discontinued is 30 April 2018.  You would rather see those rules 

determined and then if necessary, anything reinserted into this chapter, 40 

is that your view? 

 

MR TIMMS:   You will have to explain that to me.  I thought the date that that 

Order in Council finished was 2016? 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   No, no, sorry.  In terms of the rules that deal with 

temporary activities that have been notified.  Do you understand that 

the date by which the permission for temporary activities in those 

notified rules - - - 

 5 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   - - - is the same date mentioned in this policy? 

 

MR TIMMS:   That is right, yes, I think that is worthy of some conversation 10 

and further evidence though. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right, thank you. 

 

 There has been significant redrafting in terms of the infrastructure 15 

objectives and you have dealt with them at your page 23.  The 

Council’s version, and you can see on page 23, there is a lot of strike 

through there, but if you can just look at policy 3.6.2.8, and it dealt 

specifically and identified the airport and the Port of Lyttelton as 

important pieces of infrastructure and what you are proposing by way 20 

of replacement is much more general statements about infrastructure.  

Is there any reason why you would not have specific recognition of the 

port and the airport, given the unique nature of that infrastructure? 

 

MR TIMMS:   I think the thinking behind that was that they are defined 25 

elsewhere, pretty common strategic infrastructure, but I take your point 

that it may be clearer for the reader if they are actually just left in there, 

they are made quite plain. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Could they perhaps then, if not, be recognised in a 30 

specific objective or policy perhaps, be recognised up the front in some 

of the issue statements? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, that would be useful. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Almost there.  Yes, can I ask you to turn to 

the proposed policy 3.6.2 on urban consolidation and it is under 

objective 3.6.2, so page 19. 

 

 In your summary of evidence you referred to the policy in the Regional 40 

Policy Statement, I think it is 6.3.2, which deals with urban design and 

also the Land Use Recovery Plan and just for the record, it is under 

heading 4.6 on pages 38 and 39 and, for example, there is a statement 

at 4.6.3, “Good quality urban design for new and rebuilt areas is critical 

to promote a successful and enduring recovery.” 45 
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 What you have proposed is deletion of a specific policy dealing with 

urban design matters and do I take it that the replacement, or the way 

that you suggest that urban design matters is recognised is dealt with in 

your objective 3.6.2 and the following policy? 

 5 

MR TIMMS:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So in terms of good urban design outcomes being 

critical to recovery, what you are suggesting is that there are general 

statements about “providing a quality urban environment that is 10 

attractive to businesses, residents and visitors.” 

 

  [11.25 am] 

 

 Do you think that is a strong enough statement about the role of urban 15 

design, and we are not necessarily talking about – sorry, I will just 

amplify my question, it might make it easier.  Not necessarily talking 

about urban design regulation but about the quality of the outcomes.  

 

 Do you think that is a strong enough recognition of that particular 20 

issue? 

 

MR TIMMS:   I think it is a little bit generic, yes, but we have taken the view 

that the requirements for each specific zone could be addressed in 

future proposals.  So it is a little challenging to capture what that should 25 

mean across the city. 

 

 If you wanted to look at page 39, there are some potential suggestions 

there.  But it is, I think, important for the community to have their say 

on that rather than me, but given that you have to be not inconsistent 30 

with the work, there are some thoughts there around recognising Ngai 

Tahu culture, (INDISTINCT 1.08) ecological benefits, that kind of 

stuff and I think it is more specific to Christchurch rather than the 

seven seas that were in the original version from the Council. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Right. 

 

MR TIMMS:   And if I may, at policy 3.6.2, sorry, 6.3.2 - - - 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   In the RPS? 40 

 

MR TIMMS:   In the RPS, yes, page 54.  As they are important words at the 

beginning of that, sets out the business development, residential 

development et cetera, is to give it back to the principles of good urban 

design, but importantly at the end of that it says “to the extent 45 

appropriate to the context”. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MR TIMMS:   And that is a qualifier, I think, that needs to be kept in mind as 

we go forward that the regulations are the rules (INDISTINCT 1.57) 5 

matters that apply throughout the Plan need to be appropriate to the 

context of recovery, economic development, those kind of things. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And it would be reasonably straightforward though, if 

you are looking at the principal reasons and explanation for that policy 10 

which follows in the RPS, to incorporate some of what the explanatory 

material advances? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, well the methods say that the TAs we will include in 

district plans, objectives, policies and rules, if any, to give effect to that 15 

policy. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MR TIMMS:   It goes on to say though that they should do a range of other 20 

things as well, that I think seem to be missing at the moment in driving 

a lot of the concerns from the development industry.  So consider those 

principles and develop urban design processes.  The principal reasons 

and explanations then go on to say that urban design guidelines should 

be developed with the development industry professionals and others, 25 

and I think given that that has not quite happened yet, there are a lot of 

concerns coming from other submitters around the provisions. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Certainly, but you have been here and you have heard 

what seems to be very consistent evidence from a range of people that 30 

says yes, we think there should be good urban design outcomes and 

high quality development and building that better. 

 

MR TIMMS:   Absolutely, I agree with that quite strongly. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MR TIMMS:   It is set out quite clearly in the LURP Recovery Strategy but 

there are multiple ways of doing that and different methods and we 

have had this discussion around, you know, regulation versus other 40 

methods. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sure.  We do not need to get down to that level of detail 

in terms of regulations because that comes later, but if we are talking 

about clarity of purpose and an objective which is outcome focused, 45 
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you could be much more explicit about the role of urban design in that, 

could you not? 

 

MR TIMMS:   You could as opposed to what we have set out there, as I said 

just before, yes. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you.  And were you here the other day when 

Mr Miskell gave evidence? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   He acknowledged and said that he thought the seven Cs 

or at least the matters set out in the Council’s version, were a good 

starting point.  Do you recall that? 

 15 

MR TIMMS:   I do. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   But you have a different view as a planner from him in 

terms of the need to specifically identify those matters in this chapter? 

 20 

MR TIMMS:   In terms of trying to deduce what it is the outcomes are that the 

Council’s expecting from a developer or across the city, there could be 

a (INDISTINCT 4.44), I did not think that added very much to the 

decision making processes.  

 25 

  [11.30 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  One final question, if I can find it.  In terms 

of the way you deal with the question of intensification and housing 

supply, and I ask you just to stay on the same objectives and policies.  30 

It is over the page on page 20, policy 3.6.1.2.   

 

 Now, you would agree that intensification generally is a goal to be 

achieved not just for infill and brownfields land but also for greenfields 

development, so for greenfields development we want a more compact 35 

and slightly more intense form of suburban development than we have 

previously had? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, the preference is to use existing urban areas but, yes, there 

is also intensification in those areas. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and so in terms of achieving higher levels of 

housing supply you would want to recognise the need for 

intensification generally in terms of housing development? 

 45 

MR TIMMS:   If it is appropriate to the context, yes. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Thank you for your evidence, Mr Timms.  

Thank you, sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Winchester.  Ms Dawson? 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, thank you, Mr Timms.  Just so that I am clear what you 

have answered to Mr Winchester, I just want to go back on a couple of 

things you mentioned in your exchange with him.  In terms of the 

specific policy outcomes relating to the airport and the port, which you 10 

may well be aware that Mr Bonis, as the planner representing those 

organisations, is seeking be included, did you answer that yes, you 

thought there may be benefits in having those specific policies included 

at a strategic level? 

 15 

MR TIMMS:   On the spot I could not see any problem with that, yes, and as I 

mentioned the critical and strategic infrastructure is defined but I think 

it would assist the reader to understand rather than going to another 

section or to the definitions chapter to understand what that means and 

they are two critical pieces of infrastructure in Christchurch. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the policies that your version has deleted are not just 

mentioning their names but they are talking about particular aspects of 

reverse sensitivity, the noise area for the airport and I cannot remember 

what it is called, the overlay area for the port and I think bird strike.  So 25 

when you say you cannot see any problem with having those included, 

are you talking about those particular - - - 

 

MR TIMMS:   Sorry, I will explain that more clearly, yes.  I do not think there 

is a need to get into that level of detail in this chapter to mention the 30 

exclusions, the 50 dBA et cetera, it is the fact that they are important 

and then in other chapters we cover those aspects. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So that is why you are happy to have deleted those because 

you do not think there is a need for them at this level, at the strategic 35 

level? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, thank you.  Now, just talking briefly again about the 40 

Urban Design Quality Building Policy that you have suggested should 

be dealt with in – the detail should come in the specific chapters, as I 

understand your exchange with Mr Winchester.  If a more Christchurch 

specific outcomes guidance could be crafted, did you say that you felt 

that that may be appropriate to provide more guidance on this topic 45 
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which you have said the higher level documents are clear is important 

for Christchurch? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, absolutely it would be, yes.  If you can encapsulate, you 

know, what the outcomes are for Christchurch, definitely, and then if 5 

you wanted to know what sort of quality house you should build then 

you go to the residential chapter, for example.  

 

MS DAWSON:   But at that higher level guidance, if it is made more 

Christchurch specific, do you think there would be benefit in having 10 

that at the strategic level? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, there would be. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  One of the matters that was discussed with 15 

Mr Berryman is this natural hazards objective and policies.  I do not 

know whether you have turned your mind to the inclusion of these 

words “where acceptable” at an objective level in or out and whether 

there should be more guidance at the strategic level on the topic of 

natural hazards as opposed to leaving that again to the Natural Hazards 20 

chapter itself? 

 

  [11.35 am] 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, I heard the exchange a few days ago and I think my initial 25 

reading was that approach, that it is an overall risk across the city that 

that sets out to try and reduce hazards across the city as a whole rather 

than each individual development.   

 

 But I agree that some clarity in there would be useful.  My concern, and 30 

I think it is shared by Dr Berryman, is the evidence to support that at 

the moment, the definition of what is acceptable and to whom, what are 

the economic risks and all of those other things.  There is a bit of a 

conundrum there I think in what we can put in at this stage and what 

might need to be revisited later on.  But I agree with the principle that 35 

the objective could be made clearer and more specific but I am 

struggling to see exactly how we can do that at this stage. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So in terms of the word “reduced” you are looking at it across 

the city as a whole not property to property? 40 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And you are happy that the concept of acceptable levels 

needs to be in there somehow in the plan as a whole but it needs to be 45 

defined and determined? 



 Page 625 

  

Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 08.12.14 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, that is right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Now, the last thing I want to explore with you is the 

difference, how far you see there really is in the Property Council’s set 5 

of objectives and policies compared with the Crown’s one and what 

you see the differences are.  You have had an exchange with 

Mr Winchester about differences between the City Council’s version 

and the Crown’s but we also have this other Property Council one 

which we need to look at or multiple.   10 

 

 And when I look through the two there are various areas where there 

are differences and I do not want to go through them point by point but 

there really are examples about the level of detail in the Property 

Council one which you do not have to the same extent in your one.  For 15 

example, the Resource Management Processes Policy is quite a lot 

more extensive.  The urban design one we have talked about.  They put 

in the detail about the targets for residential capacity, they actually put 

the numbers in there.  They have much more extensive policies on 

business development, on brownfields policy.   20 

 

 When you look at the two sets can you give me some understanding of 

why and how you have pitched the objectives and policies you have 

and where you see the differences lie with the Property Council’s one? 

 25 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, I am sorry I have not done a line by line analysis of the 

two next to each other.  I  would agree, I think we after very similar 

sort of outcomes generally and to the extent that the Property Council 

have made them more specific to how they would be usable going 

forward for consenting processes they seem to be mostly quite useful.  30 

But I think we have kept it at a sort of a higher level in this chapter 

expecting that a lot of that detail will come through later on. 

 

 I guess it is one of the key sort of, in terms of the approach there is a 

slight difference there.  As I mentioned before we have not – well, 35 

there were 22 different agencies involved in sort of drafting our version 

but there was not an extensive amount of time to test that with different 

users, as the Property Council seems to have done that, and there may 

be some merit to some of the suggestions from them. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Are there any that you want to point us to where there is an 

outcome or objective policy clear difference between the Property 

Council’s and the Crown’s objectives and policies? 

 

45 
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MR TIMMS:   I cannot off the top of my head, sorry, no, not specifically.  I do 

recall that they retained the sort of  seven Cs design process, and which 

I did not necessarily agree with, and the process ones are useful but 

may be potentially too specific but I have not been through a detailed 

analysis to see where that might be problematic.   5 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much, Mr Timms, that is all. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 10 

  [11.40 am] 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning, Mr Timms. 

 

MR TIMMS:   Good morning. 15 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Can I just start, following on from the questions about the 

Property Council version, I have just got a very specific question about 

that just so that I am clear.  Your version and the Property Council’s 

version have been developed entirely independent of one another as I 20 

understand it, is that correct or has there been some co-operation and 

then you got into the detail on your own? 

 

MR TIMMS:   No.  No, there has not be, quite on purpose actually.  My initial 

reaction was to try and work with as many people as I could.  The 25 

Crown is in a sort of an enviable position there that we do not want to 

be siding with the property industry and excluding others that have 

equal views.  So, no, Mr Bonis and I had a two minute conversation 

and then discussions we had internally at CERA that, you know, we 

were not going to align ourselves necessarily with the Property Council 30 

for that reason. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Leaving aside any alignment because you are here as an 

independent expert anyway, but if you were to sit down with the 

Property Council version and your own version, how hard would it be 35 

to integrate those together to come up with a set of provisions that you 

think are reflective of those parts of what they say that you generally 

agree with from what I have understood you to say, is that a difficult 

task or an easy task? 

 40 

MR TIMMS:   I think a fairly straightforward task, yes, likewise with some 

other submitters as well. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  Can I just get now a bit more specific 

and starting at page 4 of your version please and in particular key 45 

issues statement 3.4.1.   
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MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   3.4.1(b) towards the end of that, your last bit of yellow 

highlighting talks about flexibility.  From the evidence that we have 5 

heard from the technical specialists, their emphasis on flexibility has 

primarily been around infrastructure servicing what the Plan is trying to 

achieve in the broad.  Would you accept that the use of the word 

“flexibility” in the context that it is has the potential to be applied much 

more generally than that to the detriment of a rural-urban boundary, 10 

specific zoning and those sorts of things? 

 

MR TIMMS:   I would not think so at the broad level using the urban 

boundary, for example, that is set by the RPS and that is, you know, a 

pretty hard line.  I do not think you could then utilise this Plan to then 15 

try and argue that there should be extensions beyond that, for example.  

I think the intent behind that is to allow some flexibility for particularly 

the individual sites, the individual developments, rather than at the 

broad scale across the city.  Does that make sense? 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   I understand what you have said, what I am wondering 

about is whether what you have said in the wording here actually 

reflects that.  It seems to me that the word “flexibility” in that context 

has a very broad import. 

 25 

MR TIMMS:   I think what I would like to see is the Plan set out a sort of 

spatial aspect to how the Council wants to see the city develop or 

redevelop and that gives you the certainty then.  The hierarchy of 

centres, key activity centres where intensification should occur, those 

kinds of things, provides the certainty that is mentioned in that 30 

sentence.  The flexibility then comes with how you develop within 

those areas and specific developments that have to happen. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  On your page 19 where you have 

talked about the policy in respect of recovery decision making, and 35 

Mr Winchester asked you about this, would you accept the proposition 

that that is significantly less directive than schedule 4 of the Minister’s 

– well, the Minister’s expectations as set out in schedule 4 of the order?  

That is quite specific about what it is intending the plan to do and yours 

is particularly high level, it seems to me, do you have any comment on 40 

that and the desirability of providing more certainty in that regard? 

 

MR TIMMS:   I think there is a slight sort of tension in there I guess.  I heard a 

lot of the conversations with other Council witnesses as to why they 

would resist putting that in the plan.  I have some sympathy to their 45 

view that it is directing how the plan should be prepared but, as I said 
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before, my view is that incorporating some of that into the plan itself 

would then maybe assist with decision making down the line and 

decision making on the other proposals as well. 

 

  [11.45 am] 5 

 

 We have not gone into the specifics of reducing the resource consent 

process compared to the existing District Plan within this Plan, I do not 

know if that adds a lot. 

 10 

DR MITCHELL:   I suppose the question is the Council view is that those 

provisions in A of the schedule are directive towards plan preparation 

whereas the alternative view is that this Plan or the Strategic Directions 

chapter will be relevant when plan changes are proposed in the future, 

for example, and when developing – well, and processing resource 15 

consents and the like.  And in that regard I just welcome your comment 

really as to whether you think there is sufficient certainty and direction 

there and whether it would be helpful to provide more clarity around 

those? 

 20 

MR TIMMS:   It could be, yes.  Yes, the version that we put forward is 

relatively general.  It does not dictate exactly how the plan change 

should be processed or consents processed but it does give an 

indication of how decision making should be informed by the need to 

provide and enable for recovery.  So I take your point it could go a step 25 

further. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right.  Finally, just dealing with your new infrastructure 

provisions which are on page 22, and it talks about critical and strategic 

infrastructure.  This is your new objective.  Two things about that, my 30 

understanding is that strategic infrastructure is defined in the Plan and 

it lists a bunch of criteria around that.  I do not think critical 

infrastructure is similarly defined but I may be incorrect about that. 

 

MR TIMMS:   My understanding is defined in the RPS but they are not defined 35 

in this Plan, but I may have to correct that later. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Assuming that that is correct, presumably it would be useful 

to define what critical infrastructure is in this context as well then, 

would it not? 40 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And I guess I am wondering too where the general 

infrastructure provisions have now gone in your version because I 45 

understand the desirability of a – from your point of view at least – 
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about, you know, the really key infrastructure stuff needs some pretty 

strong directive policy about it but there is a lot of infrastructure that 

might not be critical or strategic but which is nevertheless fairly 

fundamental to delivering the rebuild.  Do you think that is missing 

from your version? 5 

 

MR TIMMS:   It does seem to be, yes.  Yes, and sorry I was not at the 

mediation on that topic. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   It is just that, for example, if you go to your new policy 1, 10 

even though it is under the heading of “Critical and Strategic 

Infrastructure”, it says, “Recognise the social, economic and cultural 

benefits of infrastructure, particularly critical strategic and nationally 

significant”. 

 15 

MR TIMMS:   Sorry, just take me to that again.  

 

DR MITCHELL:   Your policy 1, page 22.  And I am wondering if it is a 

headings issue or whether it is a substance issue because at a headings 

level it seems to me that there should be some direction around 20 

infrastructure generally but when I read some of the policies it does 

refer to infrastructure generally.  I guess my question to you is do you 

think that that new objective and three policies could use some 

refinement to be clearer about the types of infrastructure that need to be 

provided direction about?  25 

 

MR TIMMS:   I think it could be, yes, it is one of the Crown’s key issues is 

how to use infrastructure efficiently and use taxpayers and ratepayers 

money efficiently.  So I think some additional direction around that 

would be useful.  30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  I was going to ask you about the 

natural hazards version.  I suppose my one direct question about that is, 

if I understood your answers previously, you think that that provision 

could do with some bolstering, you are just not quite sure how to draft 35 

it at the moment?  

 

  [11.50 am] 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, without the evidence or definition for what is acceptable is 40 

a challenge.  We could, but then that gets defined later on.  Yes, as I 

said before it is a bit of a challenge. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, I do not think I can take that any further.  All 

right, thank you Mr Timms, thank you your Honour. 45 
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MR TIMMS:   Thank you. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Chairman.  Mr Timms, there are quite a 5 

few things on my list I have crossed out actually, as a result of your 

questions and answers from counsel and members of the Panel.  But 

there are a few things I wanted to discuss with you.   

 

 I am going to come back to you later on in my questioning around your 10 

indication and your summary as to the value of having a bit more time 

and process to refine things, and I want to test that with you a little 

further as to how that could occur.   

 

 But just to get an understanding on some topics at the moment look like 15 

there are some differences, but may or may not be.  On the topic of 

infrastructure you mentioned that you did not attend the mediation on 

that, and there has been some discussion about how your drafting could 

be modified.  Is that one sort of subject where you think that actually 

with a bit more time with other planners you could probably achieve a 20 

consensus?  

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, I am pretty confident we could, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Just another broad topic – rural areas, so in 25 

this one here, I think the Property Council has a dedicated objective 

and related policies, as part of Mr Bonis’ evidence, the Council has 

only a policy, as far as I understand, on rural residential.  And think 

your current draft is in a similar position to the Council’s in that you do 

not deal with a rural areas topic specifically.  That is more or less fair, 30 

is it not, of my understanding? 

 

MR TIMMS:   It is, yes.  We did not see it as a core element of the Crown’s 

case, in this instance to support recovery.  We do not have any problem 

with inclusion of that to provide some certainty for everyone else. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and just in terms of testing that, have you had a 

chance now to read the evidence for instance of Mr Ensor for 

Canterbury Aggregates? 

 40 

MR TIMMS:   I recall reading a few different pieces of evidence around 

quarries and use of the rural zone.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Brown for (INDISTINCT 2.34) 

 45 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And the issue that is raised there is around the fact that 

Strategic Directions deals with the rural area just on some topics, such 

as landscape, that sort of topic, but not the working environment 

concept.  Did you take that understanding from their concern about the 5 

balance of what was there at the moment? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, I understand that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you agree with me that in terms of recovery and 10 

rebuild, you mentioned in your summary, the concept “of needing to 

leverage off the competitive advantage that Christchurch has.”  Do you 

recall that comment earlier on?  And their evidence discusses that 

competitive advantage in terms of the local supply of aggregates. 

 15 

MR TIMMS:   Mm’hm. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you would agree with me it is a strongly, closely 

related subject to rebuild? 

 20 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And also for infrastructure in that subset? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes.   25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So just thinking of all of that, there are two propositions I 

guess that have been advanced, and I would like your view on them, 

and these are advanced by those parties in fact.  One is the proposition 

that the rural provisions of the Strategic Directions should be 30 

suspended, if you like, in animation until such time as Mr Eman 

indicated there would be, a further look at these provisions.  That is one 

approach, and the other approach I guess is to look at trying to provide 

some further provisions at this stage.   

 35 

 Now, I have got a bit of an issue in my mind as to which of those two 

propositions could put recovery at greater risk.  An absence of 

provisions in the Proposed Plan, therefore only having to rely I guess 

on the existing plan provisions for what they say verses some balancing 

of provisions that become operative as Strategic Directions.  You have 40 

any thought on that? 

 

MR TIMMS:   I guess we need to be quite careful about the message that is 

conveyed in the Strategic Directions Proposal, keeping in mind what 

the next door neighbours out there may think about the need for 45 

additional quarries.  I think there is an absolute need for that for 
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recovery purposes and just for the rebuilding.  We just need to be 

mindful of those other potential impacts I guess. 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 5 

 I have not turned my mind to how that maybe drafted, but I think that 

there is a case there would be a direction around that, and some sort of 

qualified support would be necessary, yes.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So would that suggest that if one was to put in provisions 10 

to make them operative now it would always be on the basis that they 

would have to be revisited later and they would not be on the basis of 

being at such a specific level as would compromise the position of 

neighbours that might otherwise wanted to oppose them? 

 15 

MR TIMMS:   That is right, yes, as long as there are no unintended 

consequences of applying that in those provisions to a consenting 

process or hearing or whatever.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 20 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And do I also hear you say at this stage, you do not have a 

strong preference for one or other of those options, you would like to 25 

consider for want of a better option? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, I would like to consider that a bit further I think.  I do 

agree that is a critical issue that needs to be thought about though. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Just another topic, housing and increasing 

housing supply, and just as a point of reference for you, your evidence 

on page 12, of course you put this at the top of your list under 

paragraph 8.1.3 as those matters for the Crown whether or not are 

intended to give priority, it does not really matter but it is there.  35 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now your evidence explains your foundation for that 

view, and I take that to be the various statutory documents you have 40 

referred to and emphasised in your summary. 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And Mr Mitchell’s evidence, presumably as well that you 45 

refer to? 
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MR TIMMS:   Yes.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If I compare your approach there with that of Mr Bonis 

for the Property Council and the Council’s versions, one thing I noticed 5 

with regard to Mr Bonis’ version is that he has got a specific policy on 

residential capacity, and a specific number 23,700 additional dwellings 

I think he says, now you do not go to that level of specificity.  But I am 

interested in your view as to whether you might consider that would be 

a desirable refinement of the policy? 10 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, I think Mr Mitchell outlines some caution that could be 

applied there, because there are a lot of other factors that are not in the 

control of the Council in meeting those targets.  So it depends, if that is 

brought into an objective or a policy how that might be applied or how 15 

it is met. 

 

 So I have seen unintended consequences in other jurisdictions, the UK 

particularly, where there is an intense, acute shortage of housing, then 

was interpreted in a different ways - the Plan says we need 3,000 20 

houses or whatever, therefore you cannot stand in the way, you must 

grant our consents, and concern about how that may be applied if it was 

incorporated into the Plan. 

 

 I think there is a some merit in mentioning it, but just with that word of 25 

caution in it Mr Mitchell outlined. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   As to how best to do that? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and there was also comment I think on the caution 

around how to define housing affordability, for which purpose are you 

doing it. 

 35 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, unfortunately there is no definition at the moment.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So do I hear what you are saying there is, that there is 

potential room to discuss, or coming back from it, you would agree 

with me, would you not, or you may or may not agree with me, but a 40 

policy that sets perimeters or by which you can reference perimeters, 

say in an explanatory statement or something, is better able to be 

monitored, you are better able to determine whether or not you are 

going in the direction you wanted to set out upon in the due process? 

 45 
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MR TIMMS:   Yes, absolutely and then how you respond if you are not 

meeting those targets potentially.  That kind of detail is set out in the 

Land Use Recover Plan and the monitoring that needs to go with that, 

and all the other tools and mechanisms that I mentioned to achieve 

intensification. 5 

 

 I think it is interesting to keep in mind that the LURP potentially falls 

away in 2016, when the CERA Act expires.  So having something 

brought into the Plan that might extend out the lifespan of this plan 

could be useful if it is worded in the right way. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so do I hear this is another topic where you would be 

open to greater precision being discussed, greater capacity for a policy 

to be monitored for performance, just making sure the targets are 

rightly set according to the expert evidence that you are basing your 15 

opinion upon? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes.  I think we have put it at the top of the list quite on purpose 

actually in terms of the Crown’s case.  All of the document is making it 

quite clear that we need more housing, anything in the Strategic 20 

Directions that says that makes it quite clear to investors and the 

community and others that we need to provide more housing would be 

useful. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Now just another topic.  Under 8.1.3 you 25 

characterise this concept of enabling economic prosperity as number 

two. 

 

MR TIMMS:   Mm’hm. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Again, I have read your evidence, I am not going to go 

through that in any detail.  I just had one specific thing though to ask 

you about, and it is on this question of the relationship of the key 

activities centres and out of centres areas to the central city and the 

importance of not stymieing the recovery of the central city, have you 35 

read Mr Chrystal’s evidence? 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes I have, I can’t recall every bit of it but, yes. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I reread it last night and part of Mr Chrystal’s 

evidence is to discuss the background of variation 86 to the current 

plan, you aware that part of his evidence? 

 45 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So you were not personally involved with variation 86? 

 

MR TIMMS:   No, no I was not. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But in essence, without wanting to summarise his 

evidence imprecisely, on the topic of “intensification” and 

“consolidation”, some of what he says is – he brings out his 

understanding from involvement in variation 86 in regard to its purpose 

and he discusses why he does not think the current – he does not think 10 

it would be contrary to the effect of the RPS or not giving effect to the 

RPS to go further in the direction of what variation 86 intends in regard 

to this broad topic of intensification and consolidation, did you 

generally understand that? 

 15 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So in light of that, do you have a view now either for or 

against Mr Chrystal’s view, in regard to how these provisions should be 

tuned up? 20 

 

MR TIMMS:   It is a bit of a vexed issue, it is quite fundamental to the future 

of the city really. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 25 

 

MR TIMMS:   I have been fairly careful about how I answer but I understand 

you will take other evidence of course on this and you have heard from 

the other Crown witnesses around this, but I think to me the main thrust 

is to achieve that vision of the CCRP, the thriving heart of an 30 

international city, how you do that with regulation or other methods is 

something that needs to be thought about fairly carefully.  The CCRP 

explains that the anchor projects, the investment from the Crown, other 

developments and things will paint a compelling case that the central 

city will be able to stand on its own two feet and will not need 35 

necessarily regulation to restrict other development. 

 

 But you heard from Mr Ogg around concerns about the present, about 

achieving that, and I take you to the Land Use Recovery Plan, Action 

45 which says one of the actions as a matter of urgency is for the 40 

Council to define the extent of key activity centres. 

 

 Now that is so urgent in my reading that it says the prioritising of these 

measures, it has recognised the policies objective and methods may be 

interim in nature and superseded by subsequent amendments to the City 45 
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Plan, in my reading of that that actually may have come even before we 

got into this process. 

 

 So it is critically important I think to define where those key activity 

centres are, what the extent of them are, and say to the commercial 5 

investors and development industry, “This is where your commercial 

activity goes, the community facilities, all of the other things that make 

up a key activity centre” and then allow the flexibility within that to 

happen. 

 10 

 And I have not got an answer to the extent of those, I have not read 

extensively on floor space that should be allowed or other aspects but I 

think as a principle and I am leaning on the side of “intensification” 

rather than further “consolidation” or “expansion” of those centres. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but do I take that answer to be, but not necessarily 

rule out the latter or for specific centres or specific types of retail 

activity at this stage? 

 

MR TIMMS:   That is, yes you are right actually, that is important to qualify 20 

until evidence is heard around that aspect, quite detailed on top of the 

work that the Council’s done already and I would not say a definite yes 

or no. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Just on the topic of natural hazards, and I do 25 

not want to flog this too much, it may be a matter of further discussion 

in terms of the drafting, but in terms of your reliance on Dr Berryman’s 

evidence do you think his evidence on this issue of risk management 

warrants a further look at in terms of how it’s reflected or whether or 

not its properly reflected in the draft? 30 

 

MR TIMMS:   It does, yes. I think it warrants some further consideration. I 

think what was said in his evidence is quite sensible in terms of 

developing methodologies, working with community and others. I 

would like to take that a step further in providing certainty for the 35 

community and the ideal situation obviously to work out the 

methodology for where you draws lines on maps, say “Okay, well you 

can develop in this area but you cannot in another”, that provides 

certainty for everyone to get on and rebuild and do what you need to do 

– that involves some testing and a bit of a process around that. 40 

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I mean I do not know about you but the one thing I 

took from him was the importance of providing if you like some 45 

guidance or direction at this stage for subsequent decision making to be 



 Page 637 

  

Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 08.12.14 

made.  Does it not really emphasise, in your mind – it certainly had a 

thought passing in mind in terms of my mind was, how important it is 

to have an objective that properly gives that leadership rather than 

leaves it up in the air as it were in terms of what it intends? 

 5 

MR TIMMS:   I think it does, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So now I just want just to cover some issues with you 

about – I have actually got a few issues of drafting and I do not want to 

– I do not intend to ask these questions just in order to tease you in 10 

terms of the quality of your drafting, I thought it is hardly fair and you 

made that humble acknowledgement at the beginning, but just coming 

back first of all to the process of where things might go from here. 

 

 Now do I take from your earlier invitation to the Panel, on the basis 15 

that your drafting was not perfect, you would be looking for ways in 

which it could help further, are you thinking that further expert witness 

conferencing on some basis could assist? 

 

MR TIMMS:   It could, yes.  There are two ways of doing it, I guess and I’m 20 

unclear on taking direction from you obviously, but either the Panel 

and ably assisted by the secretariat can then listen to the evidence that 

is presented and redrafted those provisions, or you can send us away to 

do some further work on that to provide that clarity.  I am open to that, 

I have not had discussions internally with others about the best way that 25 

we should deal with it, that is your decision I guess, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I guess one question there would be, would you see it as 

more or less useful to work from one base document so that everyone 

can identify what we have heard so far, and of course we have not 30 

heard even the majority of submissions at this stage? 

 

MR TIMMS:   It would be, yes, absolutely it would be, it would help the 

process and help everyone I think. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now you clearly favour your document but if in terms of 

direction are you thinking a document which is more or less aligned 

with the quality planning website approach to the drafting of objectives 

and policies and so forth would be of assistance by way of direction? 

 40 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, it is a basic starting point and I think Mr Chrisp picks up 

on that as well, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And turning to Mr Chrisp, do you think it would be of 

assistance to those discussions to have a facilitation of the discussions 45 

and some assistance on the drafting of those in discussion? 
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MR TIMMS:   I think in principle obviously, yes, that would assist any 

process.  The timing and other aspects around where we are up to at the 

moment might dictate otherwise but I think in principle that would 

help, yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now we of course have not heard from and we cannot 

take any views on the views that are going to be expressed by people 

yet to be heard, but one thing I am mindful is, not to be – definitely not 

to lose sight of the various specific reliefs being sought by certain 10 

parties along the way, by the fact that we have now got, if you like, a 

big debate going on between the Property Council, CERA and the 

Council, what is your view about the process of conferencing, should it 

be a conferencing of the three parties that have presented their positions 

to date, but with a direction if they take account of the specific relief 15 

being sought by other parties, and indicate their positions on it and the 

document they produce, so that that is available for those parties at the 

time they present, is that the better approach or is it a better approach to 

have a caucusing involving all parties which would seem quite difficult 

to organise and question of time will come into that? 20 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes that is probably the key qualifier is the timing.  I have not 

added up how many pieces of evidence you have got to go through – 

how many witnesses are turning up but I do not think it is excessive, 20 

or something I think like that – if you got 20 planners in a room with a 25 

facilitator I think we could come up with an answer fairly easily.  The 

alternative might be coming up with one version and present that to 

other submitters. 

 

 I personally do not have a problem with a lot of the other relatively 30 

minor sort of discreet points from other submitters, but I have not 

analysed every single point and Property Council or the Council 

themselves may have other issues with that and in fact just reflecting on 

some of the rebuttal evidence that there are and the Council provided a 

position that they did not see fit to make unnecessary changes, they 35 

might revisit that position though through some other mediation. 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So I think what you are saying, is your preference process 40 

wise and obviously it would be for the Panel to give directions and the 

Mr Chairman to determine what those will be, are you saying in broad 

terms, your process preference would be to have more planners in the 

room rather than limited to the three parties that have been discussing 

it? 45 
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MR TIMMS:   I think so, yes, but to be quite clear about who is holding the 

pen, or a version maybe to work from, that might be a better way of 

deciding. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that might be where Mr Chrisp has the advantage of 5 

having an independent view? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Could be. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will not tear you on specific wording issues, I do not 10 

think that would be fair at this stage, I had a few of them but I do not 

think I need to go through just sort of quality of drafting points.  But 

just one broad question that I am struggling with, and I just want to 

know what your view on the intention is. 

 15 

 And that is as to the relationship of strategic objectives and policies to 

the later provisions.  And I just want to find actually – these 

introductory words on page 17 of your draft. 

 

 In here of course, you are working from the Council’s base document 20 

and you have track changed some things.  Importantly, you have taken 

the word ‘higher level’ out and put ‘strategic’ in, which affect the 

others and particularly the last sentence, “Other chapters in the Plan set 

out additional objectives and policies which provide more specific 

direction on the matters raised in this chapter.”  25 

 

 So you are aware, I am sure, of the RMA – in fact you deal with it in 

your evidence.  The RMA structure where objectives are to be for the 

district, section 75, the policies are to implement the objectives and the 

rules are, if there are any, I have never seen where there is not some, 30 

the rules are to implement the policies.  That is the general sort of 

hierarchy. 

 

 So if we look at the fact that here in this document everyone proposes 

so far that there be objectives and policies. 35 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If we look at the relationship of those policies and 

Strategic Directions to later objectives in the Plan, is it your 40 

understanding that the policies in Strategic Directions should 

effectively direct in their hierarchical way, if you like, require the later 

objectives and policies of the Plan to give effect to it? 
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MR TIMMS:   I think they should, yes.  The approach that we have taken is 

that the Strategic Directions Proposal should paint a clear picture of 

what the outcomes are that Christchurch Council wants for the district. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 5 

 

MR TIMMS:   And you need the objectives and the supporting policies to 

explain what that is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I was just – and exactly on that point what was 10 

troubling me was the sort of double speak if you like or confused 

message in the last sentence, “As to the fact that the later ones provide 

more specific direction.”  So what you are saying is that they provide 

more specific direction but on the understanding that these Strategic 

Directions over top of the hierarchy, and the later ones on a more 15 

specific level, give effect to them.  Is that your understanding? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Generally, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Generally speaking? 20 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, that is right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I wonder whether this is another example where the 

drafting of the intention of Strategic Directions should be sharpened 25 

up? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, it could be. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, do you think it should? 30 

 

MR TIMMS:   I think the version that you have seen goes a long way to doing 

that, it is pretty close to being satisfied with - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just – and sorry to cut in on you – but just to cut to the 35 

chase, in terms of what this particular paragraph says though, do you 

think it would be helpful if it was more explicit as to that hierarchy? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, yes, sorry, I missed your point.  Yes, absolutely, and it 

would help with future hearings and everyone’s understanding of the 40 

Plan and the role of this proposal as well.  So that the purpose is set out 

in the introduction in 3.1, it provides information about the 

earthquakes, sets out the Strategic Directions Design Outcomes that 

could be made a bit clearer in both that section and the section that you 

are just referring to now.  Explain what the overall intent of this 45 

Proposal 3 is.   
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Timms, and obviously it will be for 

Mr Chairman to determine any Directions issue for the Panel. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Mr Timms, who do you see the audience for this 5 

Plan to be? 

 

MR TIMMS:   There is a whole wide range of potential users as explained in 

the evidence, there are consultants, planners and lawyers and the 

development industry I guess, but also the general community of 10 

anyone that wants to build a house or participate in the recovery.  

Particularly concern, I think, I have highlighted this about overseas 

investors and consultants from out of town as well to be able to 

understand what it is that Christchurch wants for their district and the 

requirements on them for the consenting processes. 15 

 

SIR HANSEN:   So at the highest level, would it be fair to say that this is the 

communities Plan? 

 

MR TIMMS:   It is, it needs to be balanced against the fact that district plans 20 

are not usually bedtime reading but - - - 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Well, I think we are all aware of that, but who owns the Plan, 

it is the community that owns it, is it not? 

 25 

MR TIMMS:    Absolutely yes. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes, so I have just got a couple of questions following on 

from questions you have had earlier on that.   

 30 

 The first one is the one around natural hazards which you heard my 

question to Dr Berryman and the judges followed that up with you. 

 

 Do you also, as a planner, because I asked him as a scientist, whether it 

would be useful in the Strategic Directions that the framework 35 

extended to the way forward to get the societal acceptance – acceptance 

is wrong – societal agreement as to what ‘acceptable’ means in this 

context? 

 

MR TIMMS:   I think it would be useful yes.  My only concern there is about 40 

the process and not going around in circles I guess, that we actually 

land on an answer - - - 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Which is a drafting question. 

 45 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 
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SIR HANSEN:   Right.  And the other one goes back to something Dr Mitchell 

put to you about the Statement of Expectations and the Order in 

Council.  You mentioned that the LURP expires in 2016 when CERA 

expires, and on current things, we also expire, so in a few years’ time 5 

do you think the community reader is going to go rushing as part of 

their bedtime read of the Plan and the Order in Council? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Possibly not, no. 

 10 

SIR HANSEN:   Well does that not highlight to you that perhaps in the 

objective we have referred to that A and I should have somewhat more 

direct language reflected in this Plan? 

 

MR TIMMS:   I would not have any problem with that, yes. 15 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, anything from the Panel’s questions, 

Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir. 20 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Mr Radich? 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [12.17 pm] 

 25 

MR RADICH:   I just have one question, your Honour, in terms of the 

re-examination from one of my learned friend’s questions, and that is, 

Mr Timms, the version of the Plan that you may have seen, your draft 

with the yellow highlighting in it, do you have that somewhere near 

you? 30 

 

MR TIMMS:   I do, but it does not have yellow highlights in it.  

 

SIR HANSEN:   There is probably one behind you with exhibit 1 written on 

the top of it. 35 

 

MR RADICH:   That is fine.  You were asked by my learned friend or to agree 

that one of the main differences between your version and the 

Council’s version was the aggregation versus the disaggregation or 

non-aggregation or deaggregation, I am not sure what the right word is, 40 

of the provisions, and I think your answer was yes, that was a feature 

that differed? 

 

MR TIMMS:   One feature of a few, yes. 

 45 



 Page 643 

  

Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 08.12.14 

MR RADICH:   If you bear in mind the yellow highlighting which takes into 

account all of the different things that you have sought to include or 

remove, are you able to give even just a couple of examples of the 

nature of those changes and the purposes of the differences? 

 5 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, I may have sort of underplayed the differences between us 

potentially.  As I have set out in my evidence and I think I mention it 

again in my summary about that general aim of working with the 

community and the development industry and reflecting that more 

clearly, enabling recovery in this proposal which in my view, and I 10 

think in the Crown submission and in my evidence and a few other 

places, says that that needs to be made more explicit and clearer. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes.  Thank you, sir. 

 15 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Timms.   

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.19 pm] 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Ms Semple? 20 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Sir, I wondered whether you might like to change the order in 

here from Ms Murchison who I see is here before starting - - - 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Well, we can perhaps approach that because there is a 25 

question.  Ms Dewar , if you would come forward, there is a question, I 

think, we have having received that document rather than sort of 

amendment, it seems to us that there are significant changes that impact 

upon other parties that may well want to cross-examine now. 

 30 

MS DEWAR:   I am happy to recall Ms Murchison.  Certainly the changes 

were in her evidence-in-chief or they are followed - - - 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes, but when you see them starkly in the drafted document, 

they actually seem to introduce new policies to be honest. 35 

 

MS DEWAR:   Some of the policies were redrafted following in – in the 

evidence-in-chief, certainly within scope and a “lesser relief” if you 

like, but I am happy to recall the witness once people have had a 

chance to have a look at the - - -  40 

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Well, we will just have a quick discussion. 

 45 
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 No Ms Dewar, I’m sorry our view remains from our discussion earlier 

today that this needs to be circulated to submitters – on the basis that 

they have 24 hours to respond and advise whether or not they wish to 

take it through - - -  

 5 

MS DEWAR:   Certainly, there is no problem with that, sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   - - - to cross-examination and that, because it may be within 

scope but it does expand things very considerably. 

 10 

MS DEWAR:   The only thing I would mention is during Ms Murchinson’s 

cross-examination the Crown put some amendments to her as well, and 

my friend was going to - - -  

 

SIR HANSEN:   We are aware of all of that. 15 

 

MS DEWAR:   Yes.  But those amendments have not been made and before I 

circulate them I wondered whether it would be better to have all of the 

amendments in her brief. 

 20 

SIR HANSEN:   Well if you can do it, circulate it by this afternoon. 

 

MS DEWAR:   Well I have not had the question – I have not had the 

suggestions yet so I am not in the position to do that. 

 25 

MR RADICH:   They will be available by lunchtime, sir, I am just waiting for 

some feedback from one. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   All right. 

 30 

MS DEWAR:   The only difficulty with that is, as Ms Murchinson explain 

some of them do deal with whakapapa and they will have to go back to 

TRONT, it’s not her opinion as a planner in that instance. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Well we are interested in the evidence she is able to give. 35 

 

MS DEWAR:   I understand that. Well certainly she will – if my friend can get 

- - -  

 

SIR HANSEN:   Well if it goes further it may be that parties will be wanting to 40 

recall other witnesses to cross-examine. 

 

MS DEWAR:   Yes, sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Okay, thank you. 45 
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 Ms Semple, do you have Mr McDonald? 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  5 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, I just have some brief opening submission as well - - -  

 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes, thank you. 

 10 

MS SEMPLE:   - - - (INDISTINCT 2.01). 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 

 

 Yes. 15 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Good afternoon members of the Panel, if I could take you just 

to paragraph 3, as you are well aware the context within which this 

review is taking place is very different from any other District Plan 

Review, both practically in terms of what has been lost and therefore 20 

what must be replaced and legally in terms of the added overlay of the 

Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Act, its resultant Recovery Strategy, 

two Recovery Plans, an Order in Council and an accompanying 

Statement of Expectations. 

 25 

 In my submission the opening submissions for the Crown set out 

clearly the various provisions of the RMA, the Earthquake Recovery 

Legislation and the “higher order” documents to which your attention 

must be turned, and I propose not to repeat those here but simply to 

endorse and adopt that analysis. 30 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   There is little doubt that the resulting legal framework is 

complex, but in my submission that complexity does not result in 35 

contradiction.  The common denominator is quite simply the enabling 

of people and communities of Christchurch to restore their economic, 

social and cultural wellbeing.  There seems little dispute that the 

Strategic Directions chapter plays a vital role in setting the strategic 

context for the District Plan and the overarching direction for other 40 

chapters within the Plan.  It is for this reason that the Property Council 

has concentrated its effort on this chapter. 

 

 The outcome of this hearing and the form and content of the Strategic 

Directions chapter that results will shape the balance of the Plan and 45 

therefore play a pivotal role in the recovery and rebuild of the city. 
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 The important role of this chapter in setting the direction and tone of 

the plan is thrown into stark relief by the operations of section 9 and 15 

of the order in Council, which will see this chapter operative before 

other chapters are heard and determined or in some instances before 5 

other chapters are even notified. 

 

 In giving effect to the Strategic Directions set by this chapter the 

subsequent provisions of the Plan will form the parameters within 

which the private sector will undertake its part of the rebuild, a 10 

contribution which under any analysis is significant. 

 

 Ms McDonald in her evidence for the Property Council puts that figure 

at $21.6 billion or 54 percent of the anticipated total spend.  Mr Nevell 

for the Crown places it at 75 percent of the total rebuild or some $30 15 

billion. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 

 We get used to mentioning these figures but they are “eye watering 20 

large”, particularly for those individuals or organisations directly 

writing the cheques.  It is for that reason that there is some frustration 

that the Christchurch City Council, at least until its most recent 

iterations of the chapter has failed to recognise within the provisions 

the important contribution made by the private sector.  And as it is 25 

consistent with Mr Theelen’s evidence that the Council saw no need to 

consult with the private sector any more or less than any other part of 

the community in the preparation of the Plan. 

 

 Counsel for the Crown has suggested in his opening that the 30 

opportunity to reimagine the city and provide clear guidance on how 

such a future might be achieved has been missed or at least not fully 

grasped.  I concur and would add that an opportunity also exists within 

the District Plan Review process to reshape the relationship between 

the Council and the private sector.  It seems clear that collaboration and 35 

cooperation between these important contributors to the rebuild could 

yield a more positive and lasting result for the city, given the 

magnitude of the task ahead.  This opportunity in my submission 

remains to be grasped. 

 40 

 The City Council entitled its consultation on this Replacement Plan 

“Finding the Balance”, and in the most simple of terms it is the position 

of the Property Council that the correct balance has not yet been found, 

either in the proposal as notified or as subsequently amended by the 

Council. 45 
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 The Property Council’s evidence is that the Plan as a whole favours 

regulation or control over “enablement”, and that given the issues 

facing Christchurch at this time such a balance will fail to meet the 

purpose of the Act.  Contrary to the City Council’s position, the 

evidence of the Property Council is that a more enabling plan can still 5 

give effect to the matters set out in the Regional Policy Statement. 

 

 The Property Council submission asks that the Panel take the 

opportunity to begin redressing that imbalance by including within the 

Strategic Directions chapter greater recognition of issues of recovery 10 

and enabling development. 

 

 It seeks clearer recognition of the role the private sector will play in 

delivering the outcome sought for the city and request specific 

inclusion of provisions which reference the collaboration which could 15 

usefully take place between the Council and the private sector, 

particularly with respect to the integration of infrastructure and 

development. 

 

 It seeks a clearer and more concise structure for this important chapter 20 

of the Plan and suggests one possible approach to achieving this. What 

it does not seek is rebuilding at any cost and to characterise it in this 

way, in my submission, does a disservice to all parties. 

 

 Property Council has provided the Panel with a redrafted chapter.  In 25 

developing this version Property Council has engaged in consultation 

with a number of other submitters, as a result the Property Council 

version has the support of a number of parties.  It is the evidence of Mr 

Bonis that this version better or more appropriately responds to the 

“higher order” statutory documents.  It does this by not simply seeking 30 

to repeat the requirements of the Regional Policy Statement but seeking 

to further refine these under the lens of the LURP, the Recovery 

Strategy and the statement of expectations.  This is supported by 

evidence of Mr Phillips, the Carter Group and others, Mr Jones for 

Ngāi Tahu Property and Mr Bonis for Bunnings and others. 35 

 

 And turning if I could just to a couple of specific issues that I think 

might be more helpful in opening than in closing, counsel for 

Christchurch City Council states in opening, “that it is inappropriate 

and artificial to distinguish recovery from the growth and development 40 

of Christchurch in the longer term”. 

 

 However, I would suggest that this might be a moot point when we 

consider that the evidence of Mr Nevell for the Crown sets out an 

overview of the stages of recovery after a disaster of this magnitude, 45 

and Mr Nevell’s evidence indicates that Christchurch will remain in the 
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reconstruction phase for at least the next 10 years.  He says at this stage 

approximately 75 percent of earthquake recovery reconstruction is yet 

to take place. 

 

  [12.30 pm] 5 

 

 Mr Nevell’s opinion is in line with the timeframes set out in the LURP, 

which signal recovery and rebuilding will be undertaken over the next 

10-15 years.  The recovery strategy, which looks at a timeframe 

stretching to 2020 and beyond, and the Christchurch Central Recovery 10 

Plan which sets out an immediate to medium term recovery period of 

up to 10 years from the date of its gazettal in August 2012. 

 

 The lifetime of a district plan under the RMA is 10 years.  That puts 

this plan entirely within recovery and rebuild timeframes.  The longer 15 

term contemplated by the Council where a recovery focus is not 

necessary will, unfortunately it seems, need to be addressed by the next 

iteration of the district plan. 

 

 The Council has objected to the inclusion of what have become known, 20 

I think as process - - - 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Just pause there, just a question. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, sir. 25 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Your 23, you would accept though that this plan needs to be 

in a form or not hinder the longer term? 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, sir.  30 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   So if I turn to the process provision. 

 35 

 Mr Bonis explains in his evidence that including parameters from the 

order in Council, statement of expectations and recovery strategy, will 

ensure that lower order provisions and future development take 

earthquake recovery into account.  

 40 

 Now, it is not clear, I say, from the evidence presented by the Council 

to what degree the notified provisions in this chapter have been tested 

or evaluated to ensure they result in clear, concise and easy to use 

provisions in subsequent chapters which will reduce reliance on 

resource consents and the number, extent and prescriptiveness of 45 

development controls and design standards as set out in schedule 4. 
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 Mr Eman indicated in answers to a question from me that an 

independent planning review of all chapters had been undertaken.  I 

have been unable to find such a review in the documents made 

available, but note that Mr Andrew Macleod, a planner with the 5 

Property Group, undertook a review of the commercial and industrial 

chapters.  

 

 In a review of the commercial chapter Mr Macleod indicates that his 

overall impression of the chapter is that it tends towards controlling 10 

rather than enabling.  In his view a more enabling approach could be 

considered given the importance of catalysing private investment in the 

earthquake rebuild phase.  

 

 With respect to the industrial chapter, Mr Macleod found that the 15 

provisions were more focused and enabling than those in the draft 

commercial chapter, but that the clear direction for industrial activities 

was eroded by the equal emphasis on amenity.  This is generally 

consistent with an evaluation undertaken by Mr Phillips as part of his 

evidence for Carter Group and others, which concludes that in relation 20 

to the commercial core zone, as an example, a significant number of 

typical and anticipated activities within the commercial core zone 

would require resource consent. 

 

 The joint statement of Mr Jones and Mr Chrystal also contains an 25 

evaluation of a number of scenarios in the residential and commercial 

zones to better understand whether the provisions in the proposal 

reduce consenting and notification requirements.  The joint statement 

concludes that “in our view the number, extent and prescriptiveness of 

development controls and design standards has not been reduced by the 30 

residential and the commercial proposal relative to the operative 

provisions, let alone significantly reduced”. 

 

 Indeed, with regards the commercial proposal, the opposite has 

occurred where the matters of restricted discretion for urban design are 35 

significantly increased in scale and effect.  

 

 The Hearings Panel, as you know, commissioned a report by 

Environmental Management Services Limited to determine the extent 

to which the proposal meets the requirements of the Statement of 40 

Expectations.  As part of that report an evaluation of different scenarios 

was undertaken, and that report stated “we remain concerned that the 

plan will not achieve a reduction in consenting requirements or 

minimise compliance costs in terms of meeting detailed standards. 

 45 
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 From our evaluation of the development scenarios, we have identified 

some detailed provisions that go well beyond those set out in the 

operative plans”. 

 

  [12.35 pm] 5 

 

 It is against this background that the Property Council seeks clearer 

direction as to the importance of enabling development in the Strategic 

Directions chapter of the Plan, and it is against this background that the 

Property Council supports the inclusion of process objectives and 10 

policies. 

 

 In a discussion with the Panel, counsel for the Christchurch City 

Council indicated that the Council did not need a hint as to the 

importance of the provisions in the Statement of Expectations.  With 15 

respect, the evidence of the Property Council and others indicates that 

such a reminder may well be necessary. 

 

 If I could just interpolate there and say that for the Property Council, 

the reason that it is involved in this chapter is not about whether we use 20 

the word to the extent appropriate to the context within the urban 

design policy or whether the Council users recognising that different 

issues will be relevant to different situations.  I think it can be easy to 

characterise this debate as pedantry or different drafting. 

 25 

 The issue for the Property Council is that when an analysis is done of 

subsequent chapters which presumably the Council consider give effect 

to the overarching policies and objectives in the Strategic Directions 

chapter, there is a significant concern that those objectives and policies, 

if they are not stronger at this stage, will be used to support subsequent 30 

chapters that have the difficulties and complexities that have been 

identified in this analysis. 

 

 So, accordingly, what the Property Council seek is much greater 

direction at this early stage, such that the chapters which follow can 35 

give much better effect to the provisions in the Regional Policy 

Statement whilst at the same time having that important and particular 

regard to the matters in the statement of expectations. 

 

 I have set out there at paragraph 35 the witnesses that are being called 40 

by the Property Council, Ms McDonald, Mr Murray and Mr Bonis.  As 

you are aware the Property Council has also collaborated on a joint 

piece of research undertaken by Mr Chrystal and Mr Jones, which 

again looks at those subsequent chapters of the Plan.  

 45 
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 Now, in many respects that work is not dissimilar to the work that has 

been undertaken by Environmental Management Services as 

commissioned by the Panel, and it is simply provided at this early stage 

to illustrate how important it is that the Strategic Directions chapter 

provides clear and unambiguous guidance for the development of 5 

subsequent chapters.  

 

 In summary, the Property Council seeks greater recognition of the 

recovery issues facing the city.  The need to simplify requirements and 

reduce, where possible, consenting requirements as a result of those 10 

issues, and recognition of the vital partnership required with the private 

sector to give life to the vision outlined in the Plan. 

 

 Those are my submissions. 

 15 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Ms Semple.  I think I referred to Mr McDonald, 

my apologies, it is Ms McDonald. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   It is Ms McDonald, yes. 

 20 

SIR HANSEN:   So if you could call your witness now, thank you. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you.  Ms McDonald if you’d like to come forward. 

 

<JOANNA McDONALD, sworn [12.39 pm] 25 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS SEMPLE [12.39 pm] 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Is your full name Joanna Jane McDonald? 

 30 

MS McDONALD:   It is. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   You have prepared a brief of evidence, which you have in 

front of you, dated - - - 

 35 

MS McDONALD:   25 November? 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, 25 November, that date should be seared in my brain.  

You have prepared a brief of evidence dated 25 November and the 

contents of it is true and correct to the best of your belief? 40 

 

MS McDONALD:   Yes. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Are there any amendments that you wish to make to that? 

 45 

MS McDONALD:   No. 
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MS SEMPLE:   If you just provide a very short summation, it is quite a short 

statement, I know, provide perhaps a short statement and then answer 

any questions from my friends or the Panel. 

 5 

MS McDONALD:   Thank you. 

 

 To the Panel, I would like to very much just summarise a couple of the 

key points in my evidence, if that is okay. 

 10 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 

 

  [12.40 pm] 

 

MS McDONALD:   So I am here representing the Property Council, I am the 15 

recently elected President of the Property Council, I also work for Kiwi 

Income Property Trust, so I am actually a developer and an investor 

both in Christchurch and in other cities, so I speak on behalf of the 

investment community as well. 

 20 

 Our members are committed to live, work and play in Christchurch, but 

our absolute message is it needs to be easier here to invest than 

elsewhere and not harder.  

 

 Over the last few months Property Council has had a number of 25 

workshops with Council officers to discuss the District Plan.  We have 

had no less than three workshops with senior Council officers, namely 

Mr Mark Stevenson, Ms Brigitte de Ronde and also Mr Alan Matheson 

and others.  We have also held a meeting with all of the Councillors, all 

of whom were invited, about half of which turned up, and we have had 30 

a meeting with Mr Theelen and Ms Parfitt.  

 

 We have also, in our communications, we have dealt with a number of 

planners and lawyers from across Christchurch that represent a vast 

majority of our members down here, and that those are the group that 35 

we have had the input the most from in terms of our drafting. 

 

 Just to go through some of the things.  Our members from day one have 

specifically raised concerns that Council has not focused on creating a 

planning framework that encourages and enables investment into 40 

Christchurch.  We are very concerned about this. 

 

 As Ms Semple outlined before, the private sector is going to invest 

somewhere between $15-30 billion.  That is a significant amount of 

money and we feel that we need to be spoken to.  Whether the number 45 

is $15 billion or whether it is $30 billion it is clear that the private 
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sector has a critical stake in the future of this city and we think that the 

Proposed District Plan is a critical component to that.  

 

 For that reason, Property Council is both disappointed and frustrated 

that the Council has not engaged more proactively with the 5 

development sector and it has not reflected the concerns that we have 

raised with the planning provisions.  The concerns are spread across 

our membership, they do not just reflect a few people’s opinion, they 

reflect the vast majority.  

 10 

 I think the best example I can give you of that is we actually held a 

workshop, we had about 130 members turn up to it, not one person 

came up and said, gosh, I was well aware of everything that was going 

on and I feel comfortable with the current plan.  The vast majority said, 

thank you for bringing to our attention how much we need to be 15 

involved in this and we are concerned, and on the back of that many of 

them went and got extra planning and legal advice as to what they 

needed to do. 

 

 I really would like to reiterate Mr Timms’ comment from before, that 20 

Christchurch needs to be the easiest place to do business in Australasia 

and we would absolutely endorse that, not just New Zealand but in 

Australasia.  

 

 The analysis undertaken by our members and their consultants does 25 

indicate serious concerns about the Plan and whether or not it does 

actually enable or encourage investment into the city, or whether it 

creates an additional barrier for investment, and as we all know barriers 

for investment are not helpful when you are making investment 

decisions, either on a national or international level as many of our 30 

members are doing. 

 

 The feedback we have provided in general, once again is the Plan is not 

cohesive, it lacks an overarching vision for the city and does not 

provide certainty, particularly with no hierarchy of the chapters.  One 35 

of the issues that we really are raising is that if you fail one test in one 

chapter does that mean your whole submission gets notified, or does 

just that one component get notified?  And I think one of the issues 

with that, going from memory, and I am not a planner, but if you look 

at rule 5.9 of the liquefaction rule, is that you either are not permitted or 40 

you are permitted, so it is very much a catch all rule, and that can be 

one that would feed into every single application across the city is 

going to have to deal with that. 

 

45 
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 The key message we would like to send to, I guess with this outcome of 

the Panel, is that the plan must be written in plain English and it must 

be easy to grasp because every planner that reads this Plan at the 

moment seems to find a new fish hook every time they try and answer a 

development related question, it is not a clear plan and it needs to be a 5 

clear plan. 

 

 We feel we undertook quite a dramatic step by asking Mr Bonis to 

effectively rewrite the Strategic Directions chapter, it is typically not 

what Property Council would do, but I guess it shows the level of 10 

frustration that we were finding and our members were finding with the 

fact that there seemed to be a willingness from Council to tweak some 

wording here and there, but it was only tweaking and nobody felt that 

tweaking this plan was actually going to fix it.  So what Mr Bonis has 

done, was to go through and try and re-approach the Plan and make it 15 

in that clearer and simple English. 

 

  [12.45 pm] 

 

 In summary, I think it comes down to two statements, we think 20 

Christchurch should be the easiest place in Australasia to do business 

and we think that we should have a clear and cohesive plan written in 

plain English that encourages and enables investment into 

Christchurch. 

 25 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, Ms McDonald. If you could answer any questions. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Mr Winchester? 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [12.46 pm] 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Good afternoon, Ms McDonald.  You talked about the 

meetings and engagement with the Council, did you attend those 

meetings? 

 

MS McDONALD:   I did attend those, yes. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All of them? 

 

MS McDONALD:   Yes. 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now, you have suggested that – well you 

have very strongly stated that you are obviously disappointed with 

opportunities not being taken up by the Council, and that is from your 

perspective? 

 5 

MS McDONALD:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   You would accept though that obviously while the 

Property Council has initiated the contact with the Council there has 

been reasonably significant opportunities to be heard and to put your 10 

views forward? 

 

MS McDONALD:   I would not use words reasonably significant. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No? 15 

 

MS McDONALD:   I think that the Council agreed to a meeting with the 

Property Council, that was only after we had asked for one several 

times.  I know, once again personally as a member of the Property 

Council, I am also one of the largest ratepayers in Christchurch, I have 20 

a significant investment down here, we get the same treatment which 

inherently is okay as Mrs Jones who may live next door, but when you 

are trying to engage with Council and you are making investment 

decisions and advocating on behalf of your company to get funds, the 

Council needs to listen to what we are wanting to say and at no point 25 

did they try and say we are going to have a community sector meeting, 

why do we not we have a business sector meeting, which in other parts 

of the country is actually done in the district planning process. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see.  So the workshops that were held involving your 30 

members were essentially at your initiation, rather than - - - 

 

MS McDONALD:   Absolutely, at our initiation, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. So the concern, if I can boil it down, is that 35 

your view is that the Council has listened but it is not heard? 

 

MS McDONALD:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now, based on your evidence it seems that 40 

you and your members have known about the general approach and the 

plan provisions for some time, since earlier this year? 

 

MS McDONALD:   I would not say that is some time, but yes, from earlier this 

year it was notified that there was going to be a plan coming, although I 45 

think it came as a little bit of a surprise that it was a completely 
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reshaped plan, and we have gone from an effects based plan to an 

activities based plan.  A lot of our members were involved in prior plan 

changes, for example variation 86, we spent a lot of time doing the 

proposed plan change 56, which was the urban design provisions, and a 

lot of that was then just whole heartedly set aside to make way for this 5 

reshaped plan going to the activities based plan. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see. So you were surprised then that given the changed 

circumstances in Christchurch there was a whole new approach? 

 10 

MS McDONALD:   To be honest, yes, I was.  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. Now, you and your members would have 

found out about the Plan around the same time as everyone else? 

 15 

MS McDONALD:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   There has not been a lot of time for anyone really, has 

there? 

 20 

MS McDONALD:   No, but that is what we have got to deal with. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  In terms of knowing what you were then going to 

be required to do if the Council did not change its position to take up 

your suggestions, you knew that there were going to be submissions 25 

coming, did you not, the need for public submissions on the Plan? 

 

MS McDONALD:   We did know there were going to be public submissions, 

although, as you may be aware, because the OIC was not ratified until I 

think it was early August, the actual final timeframe for the plan was 30 

not known to our members until it was basically about two weeks 

before it was actually notified. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see, yes.  In terms of preparation of your submissions, 

do you know who prepared the Property Council’s submission? 35 

 

MS McDONALD:   Which submission? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   The submission that you made? 

 40 

MS McDONALD:   So our legal submission? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, no, when you were asked to submit on the Plan, do 

you know who prepared - - - 

 45 

MS McDONALD:   Yes, so Ms Semple prepared our submission. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Was there a reason why, having known for some time 

that you were going to have to submit on the detail of the Plan, you did 

not include detailed relief in your submission?  Do you know the 

answer to that? 5 

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 

MS McDONALD:   No, I probably cannot answer that. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   You talked about engaging Mr Bonis to carry out a 

substantial rewrite of the chapter, but Ms McDonald you would know 

that in fact the rewrite and the result you wanted to achieve is exactly 

what should have been included in your submission in the first place? 

 15 

MS McDONALD:   Potentially. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD:   Although I think one of the issues with that though is once 20 

again the timeframe. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see, and was your timeframe any different to anyone 

else? 

 25 

MS McDONALD:   No, my timeframe was not different. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No.  Now, can I ask you to look at your paragraph 17 of 

your written evidence? 

 30 

MS McDONALD:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   You talk about it not being easy to do business in this 

city, when you make that statement are you talking about the whole 

range of factors at play at the moment in terms of the industry situation, 35 

in terms of what people are going to do with capital and the degree of 

uncertainty? 

 

MS McDONALD:   Yes, I think it is a very broad statement but I think there 

are a lot of factors at play as well. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and in terms of – put it this way – the current 

planning framework or the one that you are used to, do you have any 

issues with that?  Does that make life difficult or is that part of the 

difficulty of doing business in the city? 45 

 



 Page 658 

  

Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 08.12.14 

MS McDONALD:   No, to be honest we do not – and I guess it is because it is 

the framework we know and we have had a lot of years of dealing with 

it, but the current framework is fine, and as I outlined before our 

members have invested a lot of time and money in getting the plan 

changes through and what that has done is provided a framework that 5 

everybody knows and has a logical clarity on what the proposed 

framework does. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So I am just wanting to get a sense as to what your view 

of the importance of a workable planning framework is for you and 10 

your members, and in terms of all these different factors that are at play 

and probably will be for some time, where in the list, if you have got 

say the 10 most important factors, where does the planning framework 

sit in your view? 

 15 

MS McDONALD:   Look, I think that depends on a number of things, but it 

would definitely be in the top five for any company because I think that 

your district plan drives a lot of things and when you are looking at, are 

you going to do a development, you are going to look at what is it 

going to cost me, how long is it going to take and what are the barriers 20 

I have got to get through in order to do it?  

 

 You have got to get finance, that is tricky.  You have got to make sure 

your investment stacks up, that is very tricky at the moment.  You have 

also got this unknown timeframe of how long is it going to take you to 25 

get a resource consent, and that one there can put a massive cost 

implication on you just because of time and uncertainty, and that can 

blow a project out of the water.  

 

 So if you are looking to invest, in particular with capital flight at the 30 

moment, you want to invest in New Zealand, your uncertainty in the 

district plan process is a major factor for people when they are making 

that consideration. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  In your view is that any different in different 35 

places across the country or is it pretty standard? 

 

MS McDONALD:   In most places across the country you can pick up the 

phone to a planner and say I want to build a building that is, say, 

3,000 square metres, it is in this zone, it is going to have X amount of 40 

car parks and X amount of activity or whatever, can I get a consent?  

For the most part off the cuff they can give you an answer.  Down here 

at the moment the answer is, well, I think so, but I am not actually sure, 

because we do not have a hierarchy and there are a lot of fish hooks in 

this plan that we have not quite ascertained if they are going to be 45 

something that will be easy to overcome, or something that is going to 
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be very tricky to overcome.  So the answer is, it is a lot easier to invest 

in other places in New Zealand as opposed to Christchurch at the 

moment. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you for your evidence. Thank you, sir. 5 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just one question, Ms McDonald.  I think you were here and 

you heard the questions put to Mr Timms about the ability of achieving 10 

some sort of consensus between the Crown’s objectives and the 

Property Council’s Strategic Direction package.  Are you familiar with 

the Crown’s set of objectives and policies, and are you able to answer a 

similar question, whether you think there is merit in trying to bring 

those together, if that is possible? 15 

 

  [12.55 pm] 

 

MS McDONALD:   If I am being honest, I am not overly familiar with the 

Crown’s rewrite of the plan, but I think that there are a lot of 20 

similarities in what the Crown is trying to achieve and what Property 

Council is trying to achieve, and I would say that there would be, you 

know, with some facilitation in terms of a mediation it would be 

reasonably easy I would say to actually tie the two together, because 

fundamentally I think they are coming from the same angle. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much. 

 

MS McDONALD:   Thank you. 

 30 

SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Just one question please, Ms McDonald.  

 

 You said several times in your verbal summary that you, and you used 35 

the word I, am a significant investor in Christchurch, when you mean – 

presumably that is Kiwi Property Management as opposed to you 

personally? 

 

MS McDONALD:   That is Kiwi, yes, sorry. 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Is that right?  

 

MS McDONALD:   That is correct, yes, sorry. 

 45 

DR MITCHELL:   No further questions, sir.  Thank you. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Anything arising from the Panel’s questions? 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, no, sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Any re-examination? 

 

MS SEMPLE:   No, sir, thank you. 10 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, you may stand down. Thank you, we will take the 

luncheon adjournment until two o’clock please. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.56 pm] 15 

 

ADJOURNED [12.56 pm] 

 

RESUMED [2.01 pm] 

 20 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Ms Semple? 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, sir, Mr Kieran O’Neill Murray. 

 

<KEIRAN MURRAY, affirmed [2.02 pm] 25 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS SEMPLE [2.02 pm] 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, Mr Murray.  So do you confirm that your full 

name is Kieran O’Neill Murray? 30 

 

MR MURRAY:   It is. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And you filed a brief of evidence dated 25 November? 

 35 

MR MURRAY:   I did. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Which sets out your qualifications and experience? 

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes, it does. 40 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you.  If you would just provide a short statement to the 

Panel and then answer any questions they or my friend may have. 
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MR MURRAY:   Thank you, good afternoon.  In my evidence I address the 

completeness and inadequacy of the section 32 Strategic Directions 

chapter which I refer to as the Section 32 Report. 

 

 My evidence referred to chapter 3 as filed.  Some changes have been 5 

proposed by the Council to the objectives and policies in submissions 

dated 18 November and 25 November.  No update was made to the 

Section 32 Report but as a result of those changes there is one change I 

would like to make to my evidence. 

 10 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 

 

MR MURRAY:   Which is at paragraph 4.25(a) where I refer to the wording of 

policy 3.6.1.5 and I made the point that the policy did not repeat the 

wording from 6.3.2 in the Regional Policy Statement to the effect that 15 

extent approximate to the context there have been very similar words 

that have now been proposed in relation to that so on that basis I would 

propose to delete that paragraph. 

 

 I turn to my summary.  It is my understanding that section 32 requires 20 

in broad terms that the report should describe the analysis the Council 

had undertaken to determine the objectives that are the most 

appropriate way to meet the purpose of the RMA and the provisions of 

the Proposed Plan are the most appropriate way to achieve those 

objectives. 25 

 

  [2.05 pm] 

 

 Mr Theelen in his evidence for the Council states at paragraph 5.10 in 

his evidence that, “The format of the proposed Replacement District 30 

Plan also places new reliance on the Section 32 Reports for each 

chapter to understand where and why objectives, policies and rules 

have come from and why they are considered the most appropriate”.   

 

 The Section 32 Report on chapter 3 does not fulfil that role and 35 

unfortunately should not be relied on, that is it is unlikely in my view to 

assist the work of the Hearing Panel.  It is not possible on the basis of 

the Section 32 Report to say conclusively whether the proposed 

objectives are the most appropriate to meet the purpose of the RMA or 

whether the policies are the most appropriate way to achieve those 40 

objectives. 

 

 Nor does the Section 32 Report assist the Council or the Hearings Panel 

have particular regard to the Statement of Expectations when assessing 

the proposed chapter 3.  I appreciate that section 32 of the RMA does 45 

not refer to the Statement of Expectations, however as the Proposed 
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Replacement District Plan relies on the Section 32 Report, and again I 

quote from Mr Theelen, “To understand where and why the objectives, 

policies and rules have come from and why they are considered the 

most appropriate” would have been helpful it seems to me for the 

report to address the Statement of Expectations. 5 

 

 The shortcomings in the section 32 analysis include relying on the 

Canterbury Regional Policy Statement without analysing the 

differences in both the objectives and policies between how those 

policies and objectives are worded in the Regional Policy Statement 10 

and how they are worded in the chapter 3.  There is no clear link of the 

issues to each objective and we cannot determine from the Section 32 

Report whether the objectives and policies address all of the issues that 

are raised in the outcomes and strategic directions, and whether some 

have been missed or how any conflicts between those objectives might 15 

be resolved. 

 

 The costs and benefits are not evaluated in the Section 32 Report and 

uncertainty in terms of risk or sensitivity to key information is not 

considered. 20 

 

 The Section 32 Report states that alternatives were considered, 

however the report does not discuss why the operative provisions are 

not appropriate, the specific changes made or the evidence for those 

particular changes. 25 

 

 If the proposed chapter 3 objectives are the most appropriate way to 

achieve the purpose of the RMA it is not clear how those objectives 

drive the rest of the Proposed Plan.  For example, chapter 8 

“Subdivision Development and Earthworks” uses different objectives 30 

and it is not clear what the link between the two sets of objectives are, 

and nor is it clear how both can be considered the most appropriate. 

 

 Mr Eman comments in his evidence dated 18 November, at 

paragraph 10.4, that “more specific chapters develop the high level 35 

objectives and policies in chapter 3 to a more specific level”.  I 

disagree.  I have considered the interplay between chapter 3 and, by 

way of example, chapter 8.  The objectives and policies in chapter 8 do 

not appear to be fully consistent with those in chapter 3.  There is also 

no explanation of the development process or why general and specific 40 

objectives are both required.  There is no consideration in the 

Section 32 Report of the usefulness of the objectives that are driving 

decision making.   

 

45 
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 Due to these inadequacies the section 32 evaluation in the Plan as 

notified may result in unintended and potentially perverse 

consequences such as diverting or curtailing some subdivision activity 

unintendedly.  It is not possible for me to assess these risks given the 

lack of detail in the material provided by the Council in the Section 32 5 

Report. 

 

 I provide some examples in the evidence, my brief of those differences 

between the various wording of the policies and objectives.  

Mr Chairman, that is my summary. 10 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Mr Winchester? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [2.10 pm] 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:    Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr Murray, good to 

see you again. 

 

 Just a few questions about the basis for your opinions and how you 

have approached your task.  Have you prepared a section 32 report 20 

yourself in your career? 

 

MR MURRAY:   Not a complete report, I have contributed to the analysis 

contained in a section 32 report. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   Is that right, and for which council have you - - - 

 

MR MURRAY:   Waikato Regional Council. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So you have actually had practical experience of 30 

working with section 32 and doing an analysis for the purposes of the 

RMA? 

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes, so I did not complete the entire report, I provided 

analysis into that report. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   It would have been helpful to have known that in your 

evidence.  You did not think it was worth mentioning that you had had 

that experience? 

 40 

MR MURRAY:   I have commented on a large number of section 32 reports. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Okay, thank you.    When you prepared your evidence, 

did you read the RPS chapter 6 and the Land Use Recovery Plan in any 

detail? 45 
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MR MURRAY:   Yes, I did. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   You did, so you were doing a comparison from an 

economist perspective of what was the Strategic Directions chapter 

against those higher order documents? 5 

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   You talk about best practice in terms of carrying out a 

section 32 analysis and one example of where you talk about that is at 10 

paragraph 4.11, and you make reference to the Ministry for the 

Environment Guide and the material available on the Quality Planning 

website. 

 

 Is that the benchmark against which you have assessed best practice? 15 

 

MR MURRAY:   I have referenced those two documents, I have also 

referenced some other examples of section 32 reports to try and provide 

some balance to our comments. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   And were those the Whakatane District Council 

documents? 

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   And had you had personal involvement in those 

documents? 

 

MR MURRAY:   No, I had not. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And when you were carrying out your 

analysis as an economist, are you aware of the RMA’s definition of 

benefits and costs? 

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes, I am, yes. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And it includes the benefits and costs of any type 

whether monetary or non-monetary? 

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And when you are thinking about non-monetary 

benefits from an economic point of view, are there some examples you 

could give? 

 45 
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MR MURRAY:   For analysis that I have done in the past, we have looked at 

the effect on water values, in situ values that people attach to water 

resources not taken out for commercial use. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Okay, thank you.  And those are all my questions, thank 5 

you for your evidence, Mr Murray. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions for me, thank you, sir. 10 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I have just got one question thanks Mr Murray.  You have 

seen Mr Bonis’ Proposed Replacement Versions of this chapter of the 15 

Plan? 

 

MR MURRAY:   No, not in any detail, like I have seen the evidence but I have 

not read it in detail. 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   So you have not done any section 32 type analysis of that in 

a comparative way as between what the Council has proposed and what 

your client is proposing? 

 

MR MURRAY:   No, I have not. 25 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No other questions, thank you, sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Judge? 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman.  Just a couple of questions 

Mr Murray.  First, a question of clarification, was that work you did in 

the Waikato Regional Council, was it for the Council or was it for a 

client? 

 35 

MR MURRAY:   I did some work for the Council and also have done work for 

parties in the Waikato in relation to other applications. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  And secondly, just bearing in mind the fact 

that the Panel, itself you are aware, has to do its own evaluation of 40 

section 32 matters under the Act as part of its process of decision 

making, are you aware of that?  

 

MR MURRAY:   No, I was not. 

 45 
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  [2.15 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well on the assumption that the Panel does have to do that 

as part of its decision making, have you got any thoughts on how the 

Panel might do that by way – I will narrow that question down, because 5 

you could take some time with that answer.  Presuming it is approached 

in the same way, we have alternatives in front of us, so would you see 

it as part of the task for the Panel to evaluate one alternative against 

another in accordance with section 32, say take the CERA approach 

versus the Council’s approach versus the Property Council’s approach 10 

versus other approaches, we could amend those? 

 

MR MURRAY:   I would like to be a little cautious in here because obviously I 

am not giving advice in terms of what the Panel needs to comply with, 

its requirements.  In terms of – I see the section 32 as an analytical tool 15 

to help improve the rigour of decision making, and so in that sense, yes, 

I would see an equivalent type of analysis to be undertaken so if you 

are facing alternative objectives which are both being put forward to 

achieve the purposes of the RMA or the Policy Statement, then the 

evaluation would be to look at both of those objectives to evaluation 20 

which best meets the purpose. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And presumably on the basis of what is in front of us by 

way of the documents and the technical and other evidence? 

 25 

MR MURRAY:   I would assume that is the basis under which you would be 

operating, yes, but as I say, I do not have a detailed understanding of 

the constraints over which you must undertake your assessment. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, anything arising from that? 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Any re-examination? 

 35 

MS SEMPLE:   No, sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, you may stand down.  Now, back to you – sorry? 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.17 pm] 40 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Sorry, yes, it is back to Mr - - - 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Radich. 

 45 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, I was just going to say that. 
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MR RADICH:   I call Ms Jackson. 

 

<NATALIE JACKSON, affirmed [2.17 pm] 

 5 

<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [2.17 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, your full name is Natalie Olivia Jackson? 

 

DR JACKSON:   Yes, it is. 10 

 

MR RADICH:   And you are the director of Natalie Jackson Demographics 

Limited and Professor of Demography at the University of Waikato? 

 

DR JACKSON:   I am. 15 

 

MR RADICH:   And you have prepared a statement of evidence dated 

25 November 2014? 

 

DR JACKSON:   I did. 20 

 

MR RADICH:   And you confirm it true and correct? 

 

DR JACKSON:   Yes, I do. 

 25 

MR RADICH:   Please would you now provide a summary of your evidence 

for the Panel. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 

 30 

DR JACKSON:   Thank you.  Well when presented with most interesting task, 

of course the task was to be able to sort out from a plethora of 

information what might be required as you could imagine, so when we 

are dealing with demography we always note that there are no concrete 

numbers out there, and I tried to make the point in my evidence that all 35 

of the evidence I gave is based on the best approximation that we can 

ascertain, both from Statistics New Zealand data, which is also full of 

caveats about the problems with data, and from my own modelling. 

 

 With that caveat in mind, I just wanted to reiterate that the earthquakes 40 

triggered a significant net out-migration of the population from 

Christchurch city of around 24,400, because I have noted in other – not 

in the evidence, but other numbers out there ranging down as low as 

around 13,000, so it is quite important to acknowledge the tremendous 

outflow, and the fact that those outflows very much interconnected the 45 

Waimakariri and Selwyn Districts with Christchurch’s population in 
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terms of changing the age and sex structure and the socio demographic 

composition of all of them. 

 

 So that is why it was really important to break the whole analysis by 

the TAs, the Territorial Authority areas are not just to treat greater 5 

Christchurch as one. 

 

 These demographic changes, along with other trends that have been 

going on, particularly structural population ageing and increasing 

urbanisation which is still unfolding, those trends already in motion 10 

before the earthquakes have significant implications for the type of city 

that might be built going forward, particularly with the population 

aging unfolding, as it will, to a point where one fifth of Christchurch’s 

population will be over the age of 65 by 2031. 

 15 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

 So that is an important thing we have to keep in mind.  And I refer to 

the fact that the rebuild has the opportunity to future proof Christchurch 

city’s housing stock and its transport arrangements and so on, and by 20 

that I mean a range of housing and a range of types of transport which 

will serve the city longer, and I see the opportunity is great, because I 

am dealing with Council’s all the time which are stuck with their 

current housing stock which will not be appropriate as they go forward.  

And current transport arrangements and so one that will not work very 25 

far into the future, so I see this as a great opportunity for Christchurch 

 

 I just wanted to briefly focus the rest of my evidence on three matters, 

and that is why the population of Christchurch city and the greater 

Christchurch region is likely to grow rapidly at first and then more 30 

slowly, and this has implications again for the type of city that will be 

built and the need for future proofing.  Why the age and ethnic 

composition of the population will almost certainly change and why 

there will be increasing skill shortages and competition for migrants, 

and another reason why the Christchurch rebuild will need to facilitate 35 

those longer term competition issues and encourage maybe temporary 

migrants to remain in the Christchurch area. 

 

 So with population growth per se, the city returned to growth in the 

2012/2013 year, at the time it was primarily from natural increase, 40 

difference between births and deaths, that growth escalated in the 

2013/2014 year to 5,300 in that year, primarily from net migration. 

 

 The annual growth rate for that period was again almost identical to 

that for total New Zealand, and the migration gains are approaching 45 

historically high numbers, and already exceeding those in the high 
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variant population projections that were produced prior to the 

earthquakes, implying, I believe, if this growth rate is sustained initially 

high growth population projectory.  

 

 So overall, the greater Christchurch region as a whole is growing faster 5 

than expected, it is almost certain to continue as the rebuild progresses, 

but it will almost certainly slow as population aging proceeds, but not 

to the same extent as in many places elsewhere.   

 

 Prior to the earthquakes the median case population projections for 10 

Christchurch city, Waimakariri and Selwyn, indicated that these three 

territorial authorities would be three of only 11, which would have less 

than 100 percent of their growth at 65+ years.   

 

 For Christchurch city it’s projected to have 95 percent of its growth at 15 

65+ years, Waimakariri two-thirds, and Selwyn 40 percent.  And these 

compositional changes just in terms of age, and I provide a strong 

indication of why you have to take those things into account with the 

rebuild.   

 20 

 With the population composition and the age and lifestyle stage of the 

majority of movers, were children, parents and older people, especially 

out to Waimakariri and Selwyn, in my view may make those people 

less likely to return to Christchurch. 

 25 

 But we notice an increase, and I gave evidence of an increasing move 

of commuting from the Selwyn District into Christchurch, so it is likely 

that because there has been very high levels of people commuting in 

these areas in the past that there is no resistance perhaps to living 

outside the city and working in it.   30 

 

 And that commuting could see an increase in demand for temporary 

working week type of accommodation, of the type that we see in many 

other cities.   

 35 

  [2.25 pm] 

 

 But the rebuild itself is likely to drawn in many people of working age, 

and because of the specific skills required, also overseas migrants who 

are typically young or middle-aged/working-age people, Christchurch 40 

city also has a net inflow of tertiary aged students and other young 

adults, 15-19 and 20-24. 

 

 But countering that potential for growth is a diminishing cohort for the 

next 10 years of people of school age, due to declining birth rates that 45 

we experienced in the 1990s.  However, that is likely to be met by the 
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tertiary institutions by increasing efforts to attract overseas students to 

the area.  So I am trying to paint a picture here of both aged 

composition changing but also the ethnic and country birth 

composition.   

 5 

 So when we look at the country of birth data for employed population 

15+ years who lived overseas five years prior to the 2013 census, I 

showed that numbers in Christchurch had fallen slightly but as a 

proportion of the working age population those overseas born had 

increased, same outside in the other two territorial authority areas. 10 

 

 Visa approvals for temporary work applications give us further insight 

into the potential change of the nationality structure of the population.  

In the 2013/2014 year there were nearly 10,000 Visa Work 

Applications approved for the Canterbury region with a total of 95 15 

nationalities represented.  Is it important because until the earthquakes, 

Christchurch city and the region in general had a relatively low 

proportion of overseas born, but that is now likely to change. 

 

 Median age, the trends caused a slight increase in the median age of the 20 

Christchurch population, whereas previously it had been very much the 

same as overall New Zealand, the outflow - two-thirds of the net loss 

was at younger ages, children and young parental ages, and that pushed 

the median age of the city up.   

 25 

 However, I would anticipate that with the inflow of working-aged 

people coming in and the continuing influence of the tertiary education-

age sector and the fact that young people in general are continuing to 

flock in to our cities, I would expect Christchurch city to return to its 

slightly slower than average rate of aging that it previously had.   30 

 

 So these changing demographics have enormous implications for future 

housing demand, as I gave in the evidence we see with older 

populations, a massive increase in the number of houses required, or 

the demand for single-person households, and also for couple-only 35 

households, already this region has a higher proportion of couple-only 

households than two parent households.  Two-parent households are 

liker to decline, couple-only households going up, especially in the city 

because people coming to cities have on average fewer children, they 

have them later, many do not have them. 40 

 

 And because we have few children these days we are in and out of the 

two parent stage very quickly.  So each of those changes has an impact 

on the type of housing mix that Christchurch is going to need in the 

future, and as I said at the start, the opportunity to take all that on board 45 

is excellent for Christchurch. 
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 Lastly, the skill shortage and competition for migrants.  I mentioned 

that New Zealand is currently experiencing a decline in the school-

leaving age.  This will continue to decline, the school leavers continue 

to decline until well into the 2020s because they were not born, 5 

declining numbers coming through. 

 

 Already New Zealand’s employed workforce has fewer people at 

labour market entry to exit age.  And two thirds of New Zealand’s 

Territorial Authority areas of the 67 two thirds already also have fewer 10 

people at labour market entry than exit again.  And across the 58 more 

developed countries, over the next 17 years we are going to see a 

decline of 41 million people aged 0-64, and that is the primary that we 

seek our skilled migrants.   

 15 

 So all up, while estimated resident population numbers for 

Christchurch city are still around 14,000 below those in 2010 and they 

currently approximate the low population projection, it is my belief that 

the growth will be at least to the medium and if not the high and the 

shorter term of the population projections and that the Recovery Plan 20 

needs to very, very clearly address that potential growth and the change 

in population composition that passed what it had previously. 

 

 Thank you. 

 25 

  [2.30 pm] 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much, just one question - - -  30 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Oh, I am sorry. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sorry. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Oh I beg your pardon. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I do not have that many questions for Professor Jackson. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   My apologies Mr Winchester. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sorry, sir.  I am happy to go after the Panel. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   No, not at all, it was just my oversight. 

 45 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [2.31 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Certainly.  Good afternoon Professor, just a few 

questions really to seek some of your views on certain points.  One of 

the issues that we have been talking about during this hearing is the 5 

ability to achieve greater intensification of housing and essentially, well 

one of the areas is in the inner city to get more people living in the 

inner city.   

 

 In terms of the aging population, is intensified housing, is that a better 10 

option for an aging population or is there evidence of resistance to this 

from people who are getting older? 

 

DR JACKSON:   Actually the answer is yes to both your questions.  

Intensification will be important because one population is past their 15 

peak and move into decline.  This economy is of scale mean that the 

more compressed the population is the better and this will happen 

everywhere ultimately within this century. 

 

 In terms of the older people themselves of all of them, no there has 20 

been resistance especially to high rise so if it can be achieved with 

especially linking transport as well as the housing type, older people 

use different types of transport at different times of the day to go to 

different places so their housing and their transports need to be 

connected and then we find quite acceptance of more compressed 25 

housing density. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you and you talk about the need in your 

paragraph 5.9 for economic and social interventions being critical to 

sustain the mentor towards growth and prosperity, firstly what sort of 30 

interventions do you have in mind and once I have heard from you 

about that, you might care to venture an opinion as to who is best to 

lead those interventions? 

 

DR JACKSON:   Well just having population growth does not assume that 35 

people will remain.  People obviously needs jobs and they need 

housing and they need a nice place to live and we see with population 

aging there are both push and pull factors why people come to an area, 

say they might work, but they may not necessarily want to settle if the 

area is not attractive to them in terms of both amenities and actually 40 

jobs and economic viability and so on.  

 

 For them to have those jobs what we find from overseas is that by 

contrast with New Zealand, which currently has a policy of 

decentralisation, many countries, Canada and Japan for example, has a 45 

process here of centralisation and countries overseas are going back 
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into a process of decentralisation where they actively place something 

like a Department of Aging or whatever in a particular town to try and 

attract the graduates from that particular area. 

 

 Population change in and of itself just does not guarantee that they will 5 

stay here, you have got to have the work for people. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes and the second part of my question was in terms of 

these types of interventions who is best to lead them and how are they 

initiated? 10 

 

DR JACKSON:   Well with decentralisation it generally has to come from 

central government and also with certain types of migration policy I 

also mentioned that in my evidence particular types of, these are 

arrangements or particular points given to, would be migrants coming 15 

to an area.  Those things are pretty much in the hands of the central 

government. 

 

 There is very little that local governments can do to alter say the 

number of births, policies I mention in my evidence, policies to try and 20 

increase birth rates do not do very much.  People just get closer 

together and still have the same number.   

 

  [2.35 pm] 

 25 

 Councils can really potentially affect the environment in which people 

make the decision about whether to stay in terms of the delivery of 

services and facilities. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, that is very helpful.   30 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  One of the matters you covered on page 8 of 

your evidence is the question of affordable housing and you talk in the 35 

middle of paragraph C on that page about the relative household 

income and socioeconomic deprivation scores for Christchurch, and 

then you go onto talk about that indicating a clear need to ensure 

affordable housing is built in Christchurch. 

 40 

 We have heard other evidence that from the Crown that it, I might be 

summarising, that is now impossible for the private sector to build new 

housing that is affordable, but I am wondering what you mean by 

affordable housing in that paragraph and I am wondering, and put me 

right here if you are talking more about social housing, well housing 45 

provided of social agency? 
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DR JACKSON:   Partially social housing in that I mention about the higher 

proportion in Christchurch City of single parents, but there is also the 

issue of single person households and they are different.  They tend to 

be either younger people choosing to live by themselves or older 5 

people who really do not have a lot of choice because they have lost a 

spouse.  For many older people the housing voice is very much 

constrained by their fixed income.   

 

 If to use the example of people who own their own houses, many of 10 

them are unable to meet the rates and the costs of the upkeep and so on.  

There is a propensity for people when they get past about 75 to start 

deaccumulating, selling their properties and moving into moving rental 

housing.  It is about understanding that there will be this significant 

increase, there will be around 100,000 people over the age of 65 in 15 

Christchurch City by 2031 up from about 60,000 now. 

 

 It is difficult to say what proportion of them would be seeking to do, to 

actually sell their home and take up rental accommodation or move into 

a retirement village, but clearly that is a large number of people who 20 

are potentially vulnerable and that needs to be taken into account. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell? 25 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Judge? 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   I take it there would be a reasonable body of international 

literature on outflows and inflows of populations following major 

natural disasters, Kobe, Florida, New Orleans is probably exceptional 35 

because of the socioeconomic and racial issues there.  What would they 

show as percentages of outflow and where would the populations sit 

again in percentage terms, say 10 and 15 years down the track? 

 

DR JACKSON:   I have not looked at detail at that.  What I have looked at is 40 

that older people tend to be those who are most displaced and left most 

vulnerable and typically they are the ones most likely to die either 

during the event or post-event, but in terms of the proportion though I 

do not have that answer. 

 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   Does that literature in any way inform as to the distribution of 

the population, in other words are the population shifts when people 

start moving back in? 

 

DR JACKSON:   No, I have not looked at that information. 5 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Okay, thank you, Mr Winchester anything from the Panel’s 

questions? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No. 10 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Mr Radich, any re-examination? 

 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, sir. 

 15 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you Professor you may stand down. 

 

DR JACKSON:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.39 pm] 20 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Now, the next witness, Mr Glennie, we have attempted to 

bring forward but he is a meeting in Burnham and will not be here until 

3.30 at the earliest so I am afraid we are going to have adjourn until 

then.  Yes, we have got some questions for counsel which we could 25 

utilise the time for. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I would just like to formulate a question to each of 

the three counsel here actually on this matter and it arises out of the 

questioning of the Panel of Mr Timms about the process by which 30 

drafting issues might be narrowed or eliminated perhaps by further 

planning conferencing.   

 

  [2.40 pm] 

 35 

 The question is this and perhaps if I ask you, Mr Winchester, to start 

off.  The Panel would like to know whether there is anything in the 

evidence before us, particularly the expert evidence, leaving aside the 

evidence on the policy and statutory instruments and how they should 

be interpreted, we refer to the balance of the evidence that says the 40 

Panel should prefer Mr Eman’s version of drafting over the other two 

versions. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, there is nothing I am aware of in terms of the other 

evidence that would lead you to that express conclusion, sir. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, Mr Winchester. Perhaps CERA next, 

Mr Radich.  The same question, with reference to Mr Timms’ evidence 

as opposed to the version of Mr Eman or Mr Bonis, is there anything in 

the expert evidence in particular before us, leaving aside the 

interpretation of policy and planning instruments and statutory 5 

instruments, that should lead the Panel to prefer Mr Timms’ version 

over the other two before the Panel? 

 

MR RADICH:   I think the answer to a degree has to be yes and I am not 

seeking to be adversarial here, I am just seeking to try and extract from 10 

the evidence the messages that I think, and my learned friends might 

chip in, but I think for the Crown some of the economic evidence 

pointed to the economic benefit in certainty and clarity.   

 

 You have got even from Ms Jackson some evidence that would support 15 

some of the - perhaps the housing objectives being more clearly stated 

if there is going to be strategic direction in that sense.   

 

 I am just thinking of some of the other evidence.  Retail, the centres 

based evidence would tend in my submission to support and certainly 20 

in terms of Mr Ogg’s evidence that the interesting analysis that was 

given there I think of – and this perhaps goes someway, sir, to looking 

at the planning evidence and some of the strategic documents that are 

directing a more CBD focused approach. 

 25 

 But I think the things that come out of the evidence for me really are 

the need for the plan – each of those expert witnesses for the Crown 

ended their evidence by saying “therefore I think these are the things 

the Strategic Directions chapter needs to do in particular” and each of 

them had a section that focused on the need for clarity and specificity, 30 

and I think those things to me would support a Timms type approach. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And a second question for you, is that subtlety of 

difference the same for the Council’s version and Mr Bonis’ version? 

 35 

MR RADICH:   Yes - the Property Council’s version, sir? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, that is so, sir.  There is a lot of symmetry between the 40 

Crown’s version and the Property Council’s version.  Time did not 

permit and, as you heard Mr Timms, circumstances did not permit the 

closer work on those two documents but there is a great deal of 

symmetry. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So I take your answer the first answer “yes”, to be yes, 

there is more symmetry between Mr Timms and Mr Bonis on this 

matter of foundation evidence than there is with the Council version? 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, sir. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Is there anything further? 

 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, sir. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Semple, do you want me to repeat the question? 

 

MS SEMPLE:   No, sir, I think I have got it.  Sir, I think probably I tend to 

agree with my learned friend, Mr Radich, in respect of his answer I 

think. There is a great deal of symmetry between I think the Crown’s 15 

position and the Property Council’s position.  I suspect that there is a 

greater gulf in a number of areas and probably not just around the 

interpretation of the policy documents and the statutory documents.  I 

think there is probably, as you heard on the economic evidence, some 

uncertainty about costs and benefits at least from the Property 20 

Council’s point of view as to the Council’s version. 

 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And just perhaps rounding back, starting with you, 25 

Ms Semple, and working back to Mr Winchester, are you aware of any 

legal basis that favours one version over the other that the Panel should 

be mindful of when considering this question? 

 

MS SEMPLE:   That is probably - - - 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, that is legal - I will try to rephrase that.  Is there any 

legal imperative in favour of the version that the Property Council 

favours over the other versions, is that a point of distinction? 

 35 

MS SEMPLE:   To the extent that the Property Council and I would say the 

Crown version seek a more enabling environment I would suggest that 

that better meets the purpose of the Act.  But if the question is around 

are there any issues of vires or matters of that kind that would preclude 

any one of the versions then, no.    40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, that is a better way of framing it and could the 

other two take it on that second basis please? 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, I would agree on that basis, sir, that there is no legal issue 45 

in terms of vires that would intercede. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I am in the same boat, your Honour, and I would 

observe that in terms of the submissions nobody is really running a 5 

materially different argument about the legal considerations, everyone 

accepts the same legal considerations apply, it is really just a matter of 

emphasis.   

 

 And taking on board what my learned friend, Ms Semple, said and 10 

probably stop me if I am straying into the area too much.  I think in 

terms of that issue that she put to you around a more enabling approach 

possibly what I would say about that is that the Panel might perhaps 

conduct a core scale section 32 analysis to inform itself as to which 

version it might want to start with it if it was going to go down that 15 

course.  So that would be the only bit of icing that I would put on that 

particular cake. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Winchester.  . 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, we will adjourn until Mr Glennie is available, 

thank you. 

 25 

MS SEMPLE:   Excuse me, sir, if I might just ask one question? 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes, Ms Semple. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   We are quite ahead of schedule and I suspect that, I am not 30 

sure, but I anticipate that Mr Glennie might be short.  I have asked 

Mr Bonis to be available and he quickly changed into his suit and 

turned up.  However, he does have an evidence exchange due at 

5 o’clock this evening on the Auckland Plan and I note that he was not 

- - - 35 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Well, we do not want to upset Judge Kirkpatrick. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   He was not scheduled to appear until tomorrow and I am not 

certain that my friend has had the opportunity to necessarily prepare for 40 

that or whether - - - 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Well, we are quite content to stick with the schedule. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, that would allow me to - - - 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   Particularly if he has got those commitments. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Because the Auckland Panel have been very helpful to us so 5 

we better not upset them in any shape or form unless there is some 

pressing need why we should not stick to the schedule. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   I would be very grateful if that could be accommodated. 

 10 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes, thank you. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, sir. 

 

ADJOURNED [2.48 pm] 15 

 

RESUMED [3.19 pm] 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, please be seated.  Just before the witness is sworn, 

thank you for the joint memorandum which we have received and taken 20 

the opportunity to consider, and there is a great deal of sense in what is 

being said, and we understand where it is coming from.  We still think 

we should have the pre-hearing for those calling expert evidence next 

week and will go ahead with that.  The only thing we would ask and I 

do this because you all know the timeframes on us, if you can just 25 

tighten it up a little bit by the time you come in front of us it would be 

very helpful, we understand where it is coming from and it seems 

eminently sensible and I think we would probably be looking to move 

designations forward in following that suggestion. 

 30 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes, if you would have the witness please. 

 

<JOHN GLENNIE, sworn [3.20 pm] 35 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes, Mr Glennie, your brief of evidence is relatively short, so 

you could just read it through to us please, if you would. 

 

MR GLENNIE:   I will move straight to executive summary. 40 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 

 

MR GLENNIE:   The Styx River Catchment is undergoing rapid development 

from a largely rural catchment to one that is largely urbanised.  The 45 

Styx Vision 2000 to 2040 adopted by the City Council has as Visions 1 
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and 2 to achieve a viable spring fed river ecosystem and to create a 

source to sea experience. 

 

 The Replacement Plan does not adequately recognise the importance of 

recreation and amenity values of Christchurch’s urban rivers including 5 

the Styx River. 

 

 Ahead of further development in the Styx, the new plan needs to have 

clear objectives, policies and rules that secure adequate setbacks from 

the banks on both sides of the river to provide sufficient width for a 10 

riparian corridor that helps maintain or improve water quality, 

maintains or improves riparian aquatic ecosystems, functions as an 

ecological corridor source to sea, and accommodates walking and 

cycling tracks. 

 15 

 The Replacement Plan setbacks in appendix 8.6.1 do not provide an 

adequate corridor width and do not cover the full length of rural parts 

of the Styx that will soon be urbanised.  That appendix, I understand, 

comes to a later hearing. 

 20 

SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 

 

MR GLENNIE:   The Styx Living Laboratory Trust was established to oversee 

the development of the Styx Living Laboratory, one of the cornerstones 

of the Styx Vision.  Objectives of the Styx Living Laboratory Trust 25 

include raising awareness of the Styx River and its environs along with 

maximising opportunities for research and learning. 

 

 Volunteers regularly monitor a range of aquatic and riparian ecosystem 

values and the Trust is involved with promoting research and 30 

understanding of the Styx River system.  It therefore has a strong 

interest in ensuring that urbanisation of the catchment is undertaken in 

ways that maintain and enhance the Styx River as a high quality urban 

river system that can be an ongoing place of learning and public 

enjoyment. 35 

 

 The Trust wants the Replacement Plan to have a strong coherent 

framework that flows from objectives with outcomes that maintain or 

enhance the ecological, recreation and amenity values of 

Christchurch’s urban rivers, including the Styx River, to policies that 40 

clearly state what the plan is going to do to provide for ecological, 

recreation and amenity values, to rules and standards for the Styx River 

that are going to help achieve the ecological, recreation and amenity 

value outcomes in the objective. 

 45 
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 Section 3.4 identifies key issues and opportunities that provide a 

context for the Strategic Directions.  Subsection 3.4.4.6 ‘Natural and 

Cultural Heritage’, states “the valued resources include indigenous 

biodiversity ecosystems, mahinga kai, ecological and mana whenua 

corridors”.  The Trust supports this subsection. 5 

 

 Strategic Direction 3.5.3, ‘Enhancing the Health and Wellbeing of 

Communities’, recognises the need to provide for walking networks, 

3.5.3.2, and access to rivers, 3.5.3.5. 

 10 

 Strategic Direction 3.5.4.1, ‘Valuing and Protecting Natural 

Environments’ states “strong direction is provided for protecting, 

enhancing the district’s ecosystems in indigenous biodiversity”. 

 

 Strategic Direction 3.5.4.2, ‘Water Quality and Quantity’, are protected 15 

and enhanced, is deficient because it is too narrow in terms of the 

community values relating to urban waterways and the aquatic 

ecosystem values. 

 

 The existing text focuses on water to drink, cultural wellbeing of 20 

tangata whenua and economic activity.  This is appropriate but it 

should also include reference to other important waterway values of 

ecological health, recreation and amenity.  The Replacement Plan has a 

vital role in helping manage land use effects close to water bodies, but 

to be fully effective and integrated, it needs to recognise all the key 25 

values to be protected and managed.  Failure to get it right at the 

Strategic Direction level, can then limit what follows through any 

objectives and policies. 

 

 The Trust therefore requested in its submissions that 3.5.4.2 be 30 

amended as follows with the addition of the underlined words: 

“Flowing from the Strategic Directions, objective 3.6.2, Development, 

Form and Function states, an integral pattern of development in well-

functioning urban form that (5) links green and open spaces to enhance 

indigenous biodiversity and fauna corridors and recreational and access 35 

opportunities”. 

 

  [3.25 pm] 

 

 The Trust submissions supports clause 5 but we fail to include in our 40 

submission the fact that there is no policy directly flowing from 

objective 3.6.2 that will achieve outcome 5. It is an example of the link 

between objectives and policies not always being coherent. 

 

45 
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 3.6.4 objective Natural and Cultural Environment, identifies what a 

high quality outcome for the natural and cultural environment for 

Christchurch would look like. Surprisingly, there is no mention of 

Christchurch’s urban waterways, they help define Christchurch, no 

other city in New Zealand has such rivers. The Avon River, one of the 5 

most commonly represented natural features in tourism publicity about 

Christchurch, is not mentioned yet it and the Heathcote have been an 

integral part of Christchurch’s identity since settlement. 

 

 As the six river catchment becomes fully urbanised it too will become 10 

part of Christchurch’s identity. The Trust submission requests an 

amendment to objective 3.6.4A(2)(a) as follows and with the addition 

of Heathcote, Avon and Styx Rivers. 

 

 Parts of objective 3.6.4 do have helpful clauses such as A1, referring to 15 

networks of public open space and recreational opportunities, and in 

A3 to special character and amenity value, including the general 

prominence of planting and natural features. However, as stated in 

paragraph 12 above, the three urban rivers are not included in the 

identified list of natural features. So it is uncertain whether riparian 20 

amenity values of the three urban rivers are intended to be included. 

 

 Policy 3.6.4.1 “freshwater features and values” implements objective 

3.6.4, it appropriately requires esplanade reserves and strips but only 

where necessary to protect natural and cultural and mana whenua 25 

values. As stated earlier, it is important that the planners coherent and 

consistent between the Strategic Directions, objectives, policies and 

rules. 

 

 The Plan provisions referred to highlight the importance of the rivers, 30 

their values and why they need to be protected and enhanced but there 

is a disconnect between those statements and policy 3.6.4.1, the policy 

that leads directly to determining the width of the riparian corridors and 

therefore their likely success. 

 35 

 The words used do not adequately reflect the extent of the reasons for 

having these strips and reserves set aside. To ensure that subdivision 

and consents processes do not overlook them it is important they be 

explicitly stated to avoid misinterpretation or narrowing of the policy’s 

intent. 40 

 

 The Trust submission requests that policy 3.6.4.1(d) be amended as 

follows – and that’s the addition of the words “recreation and amenity”.  

 

45 
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 Finally, policy 3.6.4.1 refers to cultural and mana whenua values. 

Elsewhere in the Plan tangata whenua and Ngāi Tahu are referred to, 

often along with the word “cultural”. The language has created 

uncertainty as to whether matters of concern to the Trust are included 

within the term “cultural”. Does it have a broad meaning and reflect 5 

cultural values of the whole community where culture could include 

recreation amenity or is it implicitly linked to Ngāi Tahu cultural 

values? 

 

 The Trust makes no comment about the appropriate terminology with 10 

respect to Ngāi Tahu, mana whenua or tangata whenua other than 

consistent use of one term if it covers all three is simpler for plan users. 

The Trust requested that the Plan be amended to clarify the scope of 

“culture” but it did not offer specific solutions in its submission. 

 15 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Mr Glennie, our understanding is that the substantive parts of 

the Plan, the chapters relating to the natural environment are still to 

come in phase two, can you just tell us if the Styx Living Laboratory 20 

Trust is involved in consultation with the Council on the development 

of that chapter or those provisions? 

 

MR GLENNIE:   No, not as far as I am aware.  No. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:  Thank you. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I have no questions, thank you, sir. 30 

 

MR ………:  I do not either, Mr Chair. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Glennie, you may stand down. 

 35 

MR GLENNIE:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.30 pm] 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, well we will adjourn till tomorrow morning at 40 

9.30 am. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 3.30 PM UNTIL 

TUESDAY, 9 DECEMBER 2014 


